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The theme is simple.

We took charge of our future a long time ago. When the rest 
of the world was slowing, HPS was growing. We continued to 
execute our plan of growth and expansion despite what the world 
thought. By taking charge of our future today, we have been 
able to weather the economic storms that have crippled others. 

People.
Products.
Markets.
Diversity.

That’s HPS now and for the future.



In the province of Alberta, Canada, the primary supply and service hub for Canada’s crude oil, June 21-22, 2013 will 

long be remembered by Calgarians as a disaster unprecedented in the province. Massive flooding brought the city 

of Calgary to a standstill and threatened the cancellation of the Calgary Stampede a much loved Canadian event 

attended by more than 1,000,000 people world-wide. Local officials and contractors determined to save the event 

worked around the clock to retrofit and repair the damage to the Saddle Dome and Fairgrounds in the 14 days 

left before the event was to kick-off. HPS provided in conjunction with distributors, priority service for the entire 

transformer needs for the effected region. Product was rushed to site from HPS allowing the complete retrofit of 

the buildings and grounds. The event went off with resounding success.  
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To the rescue.
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Our Vision
To be the leader in our industry by delivering:
❖  Lead times as defined by our customers
❖  A broad range of competitive products
❖  Quality and service excellence in all that we do
❖  Technical expertise
❖  Strong financial performance

Our Mission
We are a growing and profitable global supplier of 

transformers and complementary products dedicated 

to satisfying the collective needs of our shareholders, 

customers, suppliers, employees and community.

Our Values
❖  We value honesty, integrity and ethical behaviour 

in our  relationships with all stakeholders.
❖  We value innovation and a relentless pursuit of 

continuous improvement in all our processes.
❖  We value timely decisions based on facts and knowledge.
❖  We value a team-oriented approach.
❖  We value the personal safety of all stakeholders.
❖  We believe in treating all stakeholders with dignity and respect.

HPS is an unparrelled company – one of a kind. 

What would co-founder Fred Hammond and his brothers think if they saw 

the industry leader that their small radio company has become? He would 

be proud that his family’s 1917 vision has grown into the global company 

it is today. “Build the product like you were going to use it yourself” was 

their motto, one that you can see evident with the work ethic of each HPS 

employee. 

 Has growth been a challenge? At times it has, but the company has been 

able to weather economic storms due to the creation of a strong foundation 

that supports the future – a foundation that started in small town Guelph, 

Ontario, Canada with a focus on the people, a foundation that we continue 

to build on.

 In 2001, CEO Bill Hammond (Fred’s son) officially renamed the transformer 

division of Hammond Manufacturing to Hammond Power Solutions. Bill 

continues to steer the company his ancestors created with the same values 

that they began with. 
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❖  Superior Service Package - Industry leading field and customer service support. 

A total solutions provider with multiple channels to market.

❖  Product Reliability - Quality Management through critical skills training and 

orientation, lean skills training for cross-functional teams, collaborating on best 

practices, ISO certified to ensure consistent and reliable products. 

❖  Technical Competence- Investment in engineering resources to ensure highly 

skilled technical talent that design and build innovative products for the most diverse 

customer applications and unique work environments. 

❖  Broad Product Range - Highly engineered standard and custom dry-type, cast 

resin and liquid filled products for the global requirements of our customers.

❖  Continuous Improvement - Focused on meeting the present and future needs 

of our customers, suppliers, employees and shareholders through our continuous 

improvement program “TRANSFORM”. 

❖  Global Supply Chain Relationships - HPS continues to develop strategic supply-

line partnerships to meet the growth projections and strategic vision of the company.

Strategic Areas of Focus
3



At the end of the day, it is the oil industry that is attracting people and driving the unrivalled economic growth for 

parts of Canada and the United States. For many years, HPS has been an industry leader in providing transformers 

to power both land-based and off-shore drilling rigs. Business growth can be linked to the construction of new 

refineries and pipelines that move the oil and gas around the country – and the world. 

Products: Power, Distribution

Working to meet the need.

4
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The global data center construction market is experiencing growth which directly relates to HPS growth. Data centers 

across the globe are experiencing a number of regulatory restrictions which is driving a higher adoption of green 

practices being incorporated into these centers. Technological developments in the powering and cooling systems for 

data centers are leading to the evolution of solutions that consume lower power yet can deliver high-performance 

computing services. The adoption of economizer technology in regions where the temperatures outside the data 

center facilities is lower than the temperature inside is leading to a considerable reduction in the power consumption. 

With the increasing complexity of the network infrastructure, the enterprises are finding it challenging to manage 

data centers and computing infrastructure internally. Co-location data center facilities are being established across 

the globe that cater to the computing requirements of multiple enterprises.

Products: Distribution, Power Conditioning

Supplying the demand.
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Diversified Industries

Capital Projects
A growth industry in 
North America.

North American retail, commercial and 

industrial electricity demand continues to 

grow along with the number of capital 

projects in support of infrastructure, 

hydro generation and distribution. 

Products: Power, Distribution, 

Power Conditioning

Original Equipment 
Manufacturers
Quality and experience for 
demanding applications.

HPS has built a reputation as an innovator 

by introducing new products, technology, 

programs and services that address 

the unique and diverse needs of our 

OEM customers. HPS’ industry leading 

engineering capabilities and resources 

are a strategic advantage in this market. 

Products: Commercial Power, Cast, 

Distribution, Multi-pulse, Drive Isolation

Oil and Gas
A high-tech and 
innovative industry critical 
to economic growth.

This industry is ramping up. A new chapter in the 

energy renaissance is starting to emerge – one 

focused on the effective execution of capital 

projects. The U.S. fracking and distribution 

industries are experiencing an accelerating 

growth rate as land-based and off-shore drilling 

rigs are increasing on the country’s landscape. 

Products: Power, Distribution, Control

The diversification of the industries HPS supports continues to be our defining quality.

Custom or standard, large power products or small control transformers, HPS delivers you the right transformer at the right time – a 

total solutions provider. Our highly engineered products not only meet but exceed our customer requirements; they are also backed by 

solid field and customer service support, and a strong reputation for quality. We’ve been doing this for nearly a century and continue to 

do so for the future needs of the world. 
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Construction
A growing industry. 

Analysts indicate that there will be a resurgence 

of new construction investment in North 

America. An aging electrical infrastructure will 

provide opportunity for growth with emphasis 

toward transit, pipelines and power generation 

including mining and oil and gas. Industrial and 

institutional construction is also seeing growth 

as large organizations are expanding operations 

through capital projects. 

Products: Power, Distribution

Wind and Solar
Emerging technologies. 

Growing demand and continuing industry 

consolidation keeps the industry future bright 

as renewable energy is becoming increasingly 

cost competitive. Investment and opportunities 

for growth in this market are as a result of 

the increasing need to develop renewable 

energy and respond to stringent environmental 

regulations. Countries world-wide are relying on 

alternative energy for generating electricity. 

Products: Distribution, Cast

Internet Data
The connection factor.

New activity related to the build out and 

upgrading of infrastructure that supports the 

connectivity of the world today, creates an ever 

expanding industry for transformers. Leading 

technology giants have all made substantial 

investments in their infrastructure in terms of 

size, internet data hotels and technical abilities 

to continue to stay ahead of the global demand 

for technology in our lives. 

Products: Power, Distribution, Power 

Conditioning, Harmonic Mitigating
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HPS has invested heavily 
in support of providing products 

for new technologies. 



8

Diversified Markets
Global Presence

Responding to global market 

changes, HPS anticipates and adapts 

to the needs of our customers by 

delivering high quality, dependable 

transformers for very demanding 

and unique applications that meet 

the precision needs for some of the 

harshest environments.

Compton, CA  U.S.

Monterrey, NL Mexico

2

Guelph, ON  Canada

Baraboo, WI  U.S.

Granby, QC  Canada

North America

» Dominant dry transformer provider to the Canadian market 

served through both the HPS and Delta brands 

» U.S. and Canadian electrical distributor channels continue to be 

growth markets for HPS 

» Expansion into the Mexican market via brand label arrangement

» New technologies and product development to North America

Industries: Industrial, Institutional, Oil and Gas, 

Commercial Construction, Solar, Capital Projects 

South America

South America provides opportunities in offshore oil exploration 

and development as well as wind energy.

Industries: Oil and Gas, Wind Energy, Solar
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Marnate, VA  Italy

Meledo, VI  Italy

Erragadda, HYD India

Europe

Acquisition and integration of Marnate with our existing Italian 

operation supports our global growth strategies and doubles our 

product offering in new global markets.

» We anticipate greater market growth opportunities for cast 

product in Europe, Russia and India

» New product development will also provide avenues for growth

Industries: Oil and Gas, Renewable Energy 

India and Asia 

»  Broadened product capabilities

»  New technologies to these markets

»  Domestic sales growth and new market opportunities in Europe, 

Russia, Africa, Ethiopia the Middle East, Israel, the Caribbean 

and Venezuela

»  China

Industries: Renewable Energy, Mining, Oil and Gas, Utilities



Diversified Product & Technology

Control 
Transformer

A variety of HPS control transformers 

are the source of power to pizza ovens 

manufactured by the world’s largest 

producer. HPS control transformers keep 

things cooking at Pizza Hut, Domino’s 

Pizza, Tim Hortons and Wendy’s 

restaurants across Canada and the U.S.

Distribution 
Transformer 

Distribution transformers account 

for more than 50% of HPS sales. 

These transformers step higher voltage 

levels on the utility grid down to lower 

voltage levels that power lights, 

equipment and other systems used in 

commercial, institutional and industrial 

buildings. 

Shovel Duty 
Transformer

Moving the highest possible payload 

per hour while minimizing operating 

costs is key. Shovel duty transformers 

are part of a new wave of power 

regulation that ensures uninterrupted 

operation while improving dynamic 

machine performance.

Drive Isolation 
Transformer 

HPS drive isolation transformers 

are engineered to regulate power to 

conveyors, robotics, machine tools 

and other production line equipment. 
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Power
Transformer 

HPS manufactures transformers to 

withstand some of the harshest outdoor 

environments. HPS power transformers can 

be found on one of the largest and deepest 

oil-drilling platforms of its kind in the 

world. Power transformers are cost 

effective and dependable solutions for 

indoor commercial, as well as industrial 

and manufacturing processes.and manufacturing processes.

Cast Resin 

Cast Coil transformers 

are engineered to handle 

unusually high impact and 

short circuit loads. 

Oil-fi lled 

Oil-fi lled transformers primarily 

use mineral-based oil, and are 

manufactured at HPS India. 

H A M M O N D  P O W E R  S O L U T I O N S || A N N U A L  R E P O R T
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ANDTHEFIGURES
THE FACTS

$ 0.20

2013
$ 0.13

2010
$ 0.15

2011
$ 0.18

2012
$ 8.54

2012
$ 6.57

2009
$ 7.45

2010
$ 7.89

2011

Dividend per Share
(in dollars)

Book Value per Share
(in dollars)

(in thousands of dollars)

Total Assets

$ 118,643
2010

$ 137,520
2011

$ 160,049
2012

$ 186,878

2013

Gross Margin%

$ 0.10

2009
$ 9.17

2013

25.3%
2010

24.4%
2011

25.2%
2012

24.9%

2013
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(Excludes non-controlling interests)



71%$15M

Increase in European 
sales with acquisition 

of Marnate

20%

Increase in sales 
in India

17%
Capacity, product, 

acquisition
Increase in total 

assets

$ 242,941

2013

Annual Sales

$ 190,604
2010

$ 221,323
2011

$ 257,376
2012

(in thousands of dollars)

Building 
Synergy

Strategic Capital
Investment

Emerging 
Markets

Strong Balance
Sheet

57%
United States

33%
Canada

4%
India6%

Europe

Sales – Geographic Footprint

Consolidated Sales
(in thousands of dollars)

70,000

90,000

110,000

130,000

150,000

170,000

190,000

210,000

230,000

250,000

$ 242,941

2013
$ 195,437

2009
$ 190,604

2010
$ 221,323

2011
$ 257,376

2012
$ 160,606

2006
$ 226,358

2007
$ 221,323

2008
$ 81,349

2004
$ 131,978

2005
$ 86,566

2001
$ 76,170

2002
$ 73,408

2003
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L E T T E R  T O  S H A R E H O L D E R S

Fellow Shareholders, As we have reported over the last three quarters of 2013, 
Hammond Power Solutions (“HPS”) has come through one 
of the most challenging years since the recession started 
in 2008.
 A number of unexpected circumstances, as well as higher 
levels of economic volatility, buffeted our sales and profit 
performance during 2013. Despite our efforts to offset these 
we were unable to prevent erosion in our financial results 
compared to 2012.
Going into 2013, we noted that global growth was decelerating 
and that the U.S. economy was still recovering from the ill 
effects of many months of political infighting in Washington. 
Due to this unrest, a number of key markets for HPS fell off 
more quickly and deeper than anticipated. 
 We, like many others expected that general business 
conditions would improve in the second half of 2013, 
particularly in the United States (“U.S.”). Unfortunately, 
economic conditions did not improve, the second half 
recovery in the U.S. did not materialize and in addition, a 
number of key markets for HPS fell off more quickly and 
deeper than planned.

William G. Hammond
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER



A SOLID 
REPUTATION

The Company has built a reputation 
as an innovator by introducing new 
products, technology, programs 
and services that address the 
unique and diverse needs of our 
customers and their applications. 
We remain sharply focused on these 
strategic business fundamentals 
through leadership in innovation, 
professional engineering expertise 
and continuous improvement.   
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 In addition to of the economic challenges in North America we also faced unexpected 
conditions that impacted our international operations. The European economy overall 
remained very slow while countries like Italy and France remained mired in recession. 
India also experienced its slowest rate of economic growth in almost a decade.
 We did undertake a number of actions to grow our sales in other areas and ways, but 
these efforts were unable to neutralize the drop in sales. If there is a positive perspective 
in all of this, our sales decline was due largely to economic and market conditions rather 
than loss in market share.
 One of the actions that we undertook in 2013 to heighten our growth prospects was 
the acquisition of Marnate Trasformatori (“Marnate”) located just outside of Milan, Italy. 
 This acquisition expanded our product range and industry specifications for cast 
transformers in Europe. We have leveraged their design and manufacturing experience 
to accelerate our development of a cast product offering to serve the North American 
market. Bidding has already begun on cast business that accepts Canadian and European 
approval standards, which should result in an increase in sales once we have obtained 
UL approval for our cast products later in 2014.
 Despite a slower than expected economy, we continued to increase our sales and market 
share through our U.S. distributor channel. Our expanded channel and geographical 
presence will benefit HPS even more as the U.S. economy begins to improve.
 One of the strategies that we have been implementing over the last ten years to 
accomplish growth in an uncertain economy is to diversify HPS in the areas of products, 
markets, channels and geography. A rapidly slowing global economy directly and indirectly 
impacted the majority of our markets, including exported-oriented markets which had 
been growing up until now.
 Going forward we see positive signs that the U.S. economy is gradually accelerating 
into 2014. We anticipate there may be some bumps in the early quarters due to the 
effects of severe winter weather and the potential geopolitical and fiscal risks affecting 
China, Russia, Europe and the Middle East.
 Despite the many challenges that are beyond our direct control we are taking steps 
to grow our sales, control our expenses and manage the company conservatively. We 
are committed to building for the future and continue to aggressively penetrate the 
industry and confront the profitability pressures it is facing while remaining dedicated 
and confident that the business base that we have constructed combined with our 
strategic vision will support and generate growth opportunities for HPS.  U 



It is fair to say that the last two years did not unfold 
the way we assumed or planned they would. We 
delivered better than expected financial results in 
2012, a year that was fraught with many external 
challenges. Unfortunately 2013 turned out to be 
even more challenging than expected, and we 
were unable to build on the positive financial 
momentum coming out of 2012.
 Unlike previous years where we have been 
able to grow our sales in North America at higher 
than industry growth rates, we experienced a 
decline in sales in many of our once more stable 
markets. Canada, where HPS has dominant 
market share, saw a steep decline in sales due 
to a much larger than expected drop in spending 
in the energy, mining, industrial, and institutional 
construction sectors. Many factors over the last 
two years have contributed to this state including 
declining consumption of raw materials globally, 
the difficulties in transporting crude oil to market, 
and the unwillingness of debt-laden governments 
at all levels to fund institutional and infrastructure 
projects. Consequently, our transformer sales in 
Canada fell 18% compared to 2012.
 As noted in our 2012 Annual Report, the 
sales momentum of our Original Equipment 
Manufacturers (“OEM”) customers serving the 
mining, drive systems, and automation equipment 
markets began to slow towards the end of that 
year as economic activity in the U.S., Europe, 
and Asia decelerated. This decline accelerated 
in 2013 due to a slower than expected global 
growth rates particularly in Asia. By the end of 
the year, our North American OEM business had 
declined by almost 20%, the steepest decline 
we have experienced in this business since the 
recession of 2001.
 One area of positive growth for HPS in 
2013 was the continuing expansion of our U.S. 
distributor network. Even though momentum 
slowed due to economic and competitive factors, 
our sales through this channel grew by almost 
10% compared to 2012. 
 Over the last two years, we have spent 

considerable time, money, and resources in 
the area of product development. Our major 
projects include expanding our large power 
transformer capabilities and competitiveness, a 
North American offering of cast transformers, a 
new line of reactors for power quality and drive 
system applications, and a whole new range 
of energy efficient transformers to meet future 
government regulations in the United States. 
All of these new products will help HPS expand 
our market penetration and increase our sales 
in 2014 and beyond.
 As challenging as the North American 
economy has been over the last two years, 
Europe has been even more so. The Euro Zone 
as a whole finally reached a level of slightly 
positive GDP growth in 2013, despite countries 
like France and Italy still being mired in recession. 
This is the first positive sign since Europe fell into 
a severe fiscal and economic recession in 2008. 
The expected recovery in our European sales 
has not materialized as yet, though we do see  
positive momentum building. One reason for our 
optimism is the added benefits that our acquisition 
of Marnate Trasformatori brings to HPS. Marnate 
has increased our cast transformer offering and 
expanded our presence in the German and Russian 
markets. We have also seen expanding growth 
opportunities in Spain, the UK, Scandinavia, the 
Middle East, and southern Africa. 
 We have also been quoting and selling 
European made cast transformers in North 
America. We believe that the worst is finally 
behind us in Europe, though the region is still 
quite volatile given the financial state of a number 
of countries and the recent geopolitical events 
in Ukraine. 
 As Europe’s economy slowly started to grow 
in 2013, India’s economy went through a rapid 
deceleration of growth for a variety of reasons at 
the same time. Government initiatives to expand 
and modernize the country’s infrastructure slowed 
ahead of national elections in 2014. India’s export 
business slowed dramatically as a result of the 

FOCUS ON 
PRODUCT 
DEVELOPMENT

Our major projects include 
expanding our large power 
transformer capabilities and 
competitiveness, a North American 
offering of cast transformers, a new 
line of reactors for power quality 
and drive system applications, 
and a whole new range of energy 
efficient transformers to meet 
future government regulations in 
the United States. All of these new 
products will help HPS expand our 
market penetration and increase our 
sales in 2014 and beyond.
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WELL POSITIONED FOR THE FUTURE
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deceleration of growth in the Middle East, Africa, and other parts of 
Asia, and rolling power shortages across the country hurt industrial 
activity and output at the same time. In the face of these challenges, 
we expanded our sales organization to increase our presence and 
domestic sales in India. We are also expanded our network of export 
agents in Europe, the Middle East, the Caribbean, and Africa to sell 
our oil transformers. Finally we have projects underway to broaden 
our dry and cast transformer capabilities in India to expand our sales 
in the OEM and industrial markets in that country.
 From an operational perspective, we have been engaged in a 
number of large and important multi-year projects. The most significant 
in 2013 was the implementation of a new Enterprise Resource Planning 
(“ERP”) system which replaced a legacy system which had been in place 
twenty-five years. This project has taken more than eighteen months of 
planning and implementation in five plants and ten warehouses. Anyone 
involved in such a conversion understands the challenges surrounding 
such a project, and although there were some inevitable hurdles to 
overcome our implementation was considered to have been better 
than most. 
 The second major project we were heavily engaged in was the 
development of a North American line of cast transformers. We have 
built upon the design concepts and experience of our recent Italian 
acquisitions to develop a cast product design that meets the unique 
industry approval and specifications of the United States market. 
In the meantime, we have been quoting and selling CSA and IEC 
approved cast transformers in Canada that are made in Italy with 
some success. We are expecting to have full UL approvals and North 
American manufacturing capabilities before the end of 2014, which 
will boost our growth opportunities in 2015 and beyond.
 We have also invested a substantial amount of time and resources 
in 2013 on the development of new product designs and manufacturing 
methods to meet U.S. Department of Energy (“DOE”) regulations on 
energy efficiency effective in 2015. This project involves the redesign 
of over two thousand transformers for HPS and the investment of 
more than $10 million in new equipment in our North American 
plants. Compared to some of our smaller competitors, HPS has the 
advantages of our large and experienced engineering group as well 
as our strong financial position to carry out such an extensive and 
expensive mandatory product redesign.
 2013 also brought the completion of two years of product 
development and manufacturing capabilities in order to grow our 
commercial power business in the United States.  HPS is well positioned 
to benefit from an improving U.S. economy in 2014 and beyond.
 One area of operational disappointment for us in 2013 was 
our inability to reduce factory expenses, which is consistent with 
our decline in sales. In hindsight we should have started to more 
aggressively reduce our operating costs during the middle of the 
year after a slower than expected first half. We waited until quarter 
three to accelerate our cost cutting as until then the prevailing 
view in our industry was that the U.S. economy would bounce 
back in the last six months. When that did not start to materialize, 

we took steps to reduce our employment and business costs as 
quickly as possible. Unfortunately we could not right-size our cost 
structures fast enough to reflect the drop in North American sales, 
especially given we were also heavily involved in the aforementioned 
strategic projects.  
Looking forward to 2014, we are cautiously optimistic that the North 
American and European economies are gradually improving. The U.S. 
in particular, our largest market representing over half of our corporate 
sales, appears to be slowly building momentum in 2014 and going 
forward. For HPS, we expect most of our growth will come from a 
greater market and geographical presence through our expanded 
distributor network. We also expect to grow our sales by increasing 
our market share through expanded private branded agreements 
and product development.
 Canada is forecasted to be slower than the U.S. in 2014, although 
we do see improvement in activity and the number of construction 
projects compared to 2013. 
 The one market that we are not expecting to recover in 2014 is 
mining equipment. Manufacturers of shovels in particular have been 
hit hard by a slowdown in the global economy and the drop in the 
extraction of resources like copper, coal, bauxite, and oil sand. Even 
the underground mining of coal in the U.S. has been hit significantly 
by the growing supply of natural gas being used for energy generation 
as a result of wide spread shale fracking. This particular OEM market 
is not expected to recover for several years.     
 As mentioned, our expanded distributor network in the U.S. 
and Canada will allow HPS to participate in more industrial and 
commercial opportunities as the North American economy improves 
in 2014 and gains momentum over the next three to four years. We 
expect our commercial business in particular to grow as residential 
and retail/commercial construction finally bounces back from the 
recession of 2008.
 Internationally we see a variety of opportunities that cannot 
be accessed through North America. Despite some weak regional 
economies, Europe as a whole should show slow but positive growth 
for the first time in many years. With our expanded product offering 
as well as expanded market penetration resulting from the acquisition 
of Marnate in 2013, HPS is better positioned to take advantage of 
the growing OEM and industrial opportunities we see in countries 
like Germany, Norway, Russia, and Spain. 
 With the uncertainty of the national elections behind us in 
Quarter 2, 2014 we expect GDP growth to accelerate gradually in 
India. India is a country with great opportunity for HPS given the 
critical need to expand and modernize its infrastructure in areas like 
power generation, transit, and waste water treatment. As a developing 
country with over one billion people, there will be substantive growth 
opportunities going forward in the industrial and commercial sectors 
like petro-chemical, concrete plants, pharmaceutical, steel, glass 
manufacturing, mining, medical equipment, public health facilities, 
and more – all markets that our acquired Indian company has served 
over two decades. 
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 With operations now in North America, Europe, and India we are 
positioning HPS as one of the few custom transformer manufacturers 
that are capable of serving the international needs of global 
OEM companies.
 An area that HPS is devoting a lot of time and attention to is in 
the development of a culture of employee engagement. As a third 
generation family controlled company, we not only believe that our 
employees are our most important asset, but also part of one big 
corporate family. The loyalty, passion and experience of our employees 
are key contributors to HPS’ success in the mature and competitive 
transformer business. Through our formalized continuous improvement 
program “TRANSFORM”, we are developing an ongoing process that 
will give all of our employees the opportunity to become engaged in 
improving how we serve the needs of our customers. Satisfied customers 
will not only improve the financial performance of the Company, but 
also improve employment security as well as employee satisfaction. 
We have been creating a cross-functional team based environment 
through the transfer of continuous improvement ownership and 
accountability into the hands of our employees as much as possible. 
This has elevated the importance of training, coaching and mentoring 
on the part of the Company. It also requires a serious and unwavering 
commitment of HPS management to provide the time and support 
to create the environment that promotes real cultural change across 
the entire organization. Since we launched TRANSFORM in late 2011, 
we have multiple cross-functional teams operating currently in our 
Guelph, Ontario and Granby, Quebec plants, as well as a less formal 
but still effective Continuous Improvement Program operating in our 
two Mexican plants. This is a long term transformational journey 

that many companies are unwilling to embark on. We firmly believe 
that elevating and formalizing the level of employee engagement 
will ultimately make everyone at HPS more successful.
 In summary, this past year was indeed tougher than expected. 
We recognize that the global economy, though slowly recovering 
is still weaker than a decade ago as governments wrestle with 
high debts. Markets everywhere are very competitive, and there 
are high levels of uncertainty and volatility on every continent. 
Looking forward, we believe that with our strong foundation of 
product breadth, engineering capabilities, manufacturing experience, 
and an employee culture that is passionate about transformers, 
HPS is well positioned to take advantage of a recovering 
global economy in North America, Europe, and India in 2014 
and beyond. U                                                        
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 The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(“MD&A”) of the Company’s consolidated operating results for the 
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements 
of the Company as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, which have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). This information is based on Management’s 
knowledge as at March 28, 2014. All amounts in this report are 
expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. 
Additional information relating to the Company may be found on 
SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com or on the Company’s website 
at www.hammondpowersolutions.com.
 
Caution regarding forward looking information

This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that involve a 
number of risks and uncertainties, including statements that relate 
to among other things, HPS’ strategies, intentions, plans, beliefs, 
expectations and estimates, and can generally be identified by the 
use of words such as “may”, “will”, “could”, “should”, “would”, 
“likely”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, 
“plan”, “objective” and “continue” and words and expressions of 
similar import. Although HPS believes that the expectations reflected 
in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, such statements 
involve risks and uncertainties, and undue reliance should not be 
placed on such statements. Certain material factors or assumptions are 
applied in making forward-looking statements, and actual results may 
differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. 
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from expectations include but are not limited to: general business 
and economic conditions (including but not limited to currency rates); 
changes in laws and regulations; legal and regulatory proceedings; 
and the ability to execute strategic plans. HPS does not undertake any 
obligation to update publicly or to revise any of the forward-looking 

statements contained in this document, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

Additional GAAP and Non-GAAP measures

This document uses the terms “earnings from operations” which 
represents earnings before finance and other costs/(income) and 
income taxes. “EBITDA” is also used and is defined as earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Operating earnings and 
EBITDA are some of the measures the Company uses to evaluate the 
operational profitability. The Company presents EBITDA to show its 
performance before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization. 
Management believes that HPS shareholders and potential investors in 
HPS use additional GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures, such as 
operating earnings and EBITDA, in making investment decisions about 
the Company and to measure its operational results. A reconciliation 
of EBITDA to earnings from operations for the year-to-date periods 
ending December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 is contained in 
the MD&A. EBITDA should not be construed as a substitute for net 
income determined in accordance with IFRS. 
 “Order bookings” represent confirmed purchase orders for 
goods or services received from our customers. “Backlog” represents 
all unshipped customer orders. “Book value per share” is the total 
shareholders’ equity divided by the average outstanding shares. The 
terms “earnings from operations” “EBITDA”, “adjusted EBITDA”, “order 
bookings”, “backlog” and “book value per share” do not have any 
standardized meaning prescribed within IFRS and therefore may not 
be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.
 On January 1, 2011, the Company adopted IFRS, which have 
become the generally accepted accounting principles required for use 
by most Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. The Company’s 
2013 consolidated financial statements, which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 
2012, the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes 

Hammond Power Solutions Inc. (“HPS” or the “Company”) is a North American leader in the design 
and manufacture of custom electrical engineered magnetics, as well as a leading manufacturer of 
standard electrical dry-type and cast resin transformers. Advanced engineering capabilities, high 
quality products and fast responsive service to customers’ needs have established the Company as a technical and 
innovative leader in the electrical and electronic industries. The Company has manufacturing plants in Canada, the 
United States, Mexico, Italy and India.

D O L L A R S  I N  T H O U S A N D S  U N L E S S  O T H E R W I S E  S TAT E D

2 0 1 3  M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S 



in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 
and December 31, 2012, and Notes thereto, have been prepared 
using IFRS. 

Overview

2013 was a challenging year as a consequence of the global market 
decline and economic challenges faced both by HPS and the electrical 
industry. While the Company was faced with unexpected negative 
market conditions particularly in the gas, oil and project business 
we continued with our plan execution and continued to build the 
Company for the future. HPS continues to build upon a strong financial 
base, has a strong business model and has a clear strategic vision 
for growth. There are many reasons to continue to be confident in 
the Company’s future. HPS continues to deliver industry-leading 
growth, through hard work, discipline and the commitment of our 
employees. We are unwavering in our North American market share 
expansion initiatives and we continue to build our global footprint 
through our second Italian acquisition, Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l. 
(“Marnate”) in 2013. The three international companies acquired in 
the past few years, demonstrate our commitment to sales growth, 
product development and expanded global presence. This builds 
on our financial strength as a company, further expands our market 
share and provides us with new technology going forward. These 
operations will prove to be highly productive contributors to our 
revenue and profitability and an integral part of HPS’ legacy.
  Evidencing the reality of our vision, HPS is recognized as an industry 
leading, growth oriented transformer Company offering customer-
focused solutions through our broad product range, global presence 
and engineered-to-order capabilities. Our employees continue to be 
the cornerstone of the organization and are steadfast in delivering 
industry-leading growth and financial performance. In 2013, the 
Company continued to build for the future through achieved market 
share growth, maintained margin rates and an overall healthy financial 
position through the implementation of our operational initiatives 
and longer-term strategic projects. The Company continues to focus 
on sales growth, gross margin and operational improvement, which 
are paramount in delivering consistent strong financial performance. 
HPS is well situated for electrical industry market share growth in 
the U.S., Canada, Europe and Asia and continues to be a leader in 
the markets it serves. Despite a slow North American economy, the 
ongoing European financial crisis and soft electrical market conditions 
globally, the Company continues to build its operational capabilities, 
new product development and market presence outreach. 
 During 2013 the Company contended with soft market conditions 
in Canada, U.S., Europe and India. The industry outlook continues 
to indicate that there are still many challenges ahead in Canada, the 
United States, Europe and India. Globally, the markets’ short-term 
outlook is very uncertain and unpredictable. In the medium and 
longer term there is moderate optimism of a strengthening pulse, 
particularly in North America. The Company remains mindful of 

the precarious market conditions in Europe, the slower electrical 
industry Gross Domestic Product in Europe and India, the impact 
of tighter banking policies globally, the unpredictability of the U.S. 
dollar, resource based commodity cost uncertainty and the lingering 
global economic recovery.
 The Company is committed to building for the future and continues 
to aggressively penetrate the industry and confront the profitability 
pressures it is facing while remaining committed and confident that 
the business base that it has constructed combined with its strategic 
vision will support and generate growth opportunities. Our focus is 
on continuous improvement, cost reduction, efficiency and overall 
cost effectiveness. We expect that a combined organic and new 
customer sales expansion, new product development, capacity 
expansion, manufacturing agility and our multi-national operations 
capabilities will provide new market opportunities going forward 
and deliver solid revenue and profitability increases while enabling 
the Company to build on its strong financial position.
 The Company remains attentive and not complacent, calculating 
the risks and opportunities that are present and resolute in the 
execution of its strategies. The benefit of the Company not being single 
market dependent is that HPS can capitalize on growth in growing 
market segments and counterbalance the impact of cyclical market 
declines. We expect continued sales variability with growth in some 
of our market segments and some decline in others. A part of our 
sales will continue to be derived from major customer projects for 
which the exact timing is hard to predict, thus influencing quarterly 
sales fluctuations.
 Notwithstanding these challenges, HPS’ sales and order booking 
rates continue to remain steadfast and outperform competitor averages 
due to the execution of sales growth projects in our strategic target 
markets, delivering additional market share penetration, new account 
development and further building of our core sales increases. HPS 
continues to gain market share momentum in our U.S. and Canadian 
electrical markets as evidenced by our improving booking rates, 
market growth and steady backlog levels. The Company’s market 
diversity is demonstrated by the growth in many of its markets, 
specifically the North American Electrical Distributor (“NAED”), 
power conditioning, specialty, catalog, maintenance, repair and 
overhaul (“MRO”) and utility markets in both Canada and the U.S., 
which resulted in increased sales in these North American markets 
in 2013.
 The  combination of HPS’ secure financial foundation, strong 
business fundamentals and strategic vision, positions the Company 
for growth going forward to deliver additional value over the 
long-term. We continue to build the company.
 HPS has benefitted from strategic and operational projects 
in the areas of market share expansion, global manufacturing 
diversification, cost competitiveness, efficiency improvement and 
increased manufacturing throughput. The Company has invested in 
a manufacturing capacity expansion to meet the current and future 
demand of our customers and product development, despite the short-
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term dilutive effects on financial results. We remain attentive to our 
strategies to grow market share and will continue to take advantage 
of Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM”) and distributor sales 
opportunities. HPS’ focus on custom product design capabilities, 
competitive lead-times, product breadth and uncompromised quality 
is expected to continue to generate market share growth. Organic 
and new customer sales, flexible manufacturing capacity and our 
multi-national operation capabilities, will lead to sales opportunities 
and overall market growth. These strategies will build upon our 
positive revenue and profitability trends.
 HPS will continue to develop and expand its market share 
growth through our U.S. and Canadian distributor channels as well 
as our Indian and European OEM markets. We will accomplish this 
by developing and strengthening supplier relationships with new 
OEM customers, seeking new markets and by expanding our sales 
of custom engineered transformers to drive systems, solar, mining 
equipment and industrial equipment manufacturers.
 We are confident our strategic growth initiatives will be successful 
and believe we can take advantage of our broad product offering, 
vast reach, scale and strong financial position to drive innovation and 
further expand the Company’s market share in its strategic markets.
 HPS has a strong Balance Sheet, is well capitalized, has excellent 
liquidity, and a committed credit facility available to implement its 
growth initiatives and strategic investment strategies.
 The employees of HPS are committed to the execution of 
the Company’s operational and strategic initiatives and in the 
strategic vision.

Sales

Sales in 2013 totaled $242,941 versus sales of $257,376 in 2012, a 
decrease of $14,435 or 5.6%. 
 Consolidated sales were positively impacted by the fluctuations 
in the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar (the Company’s 
functional currency) but this was largely offset by lower product 
volumes in the North American market. The average U.S. to Canadian 
exchange rate for 2013 was $1.06 versus $1.00 in 2012, a U.S. dollar 
strengthening of 6%. Despite the sales decline, the Company’s market 
share continues to grow.
 The Company continues to develop sales in its strategic 
markets, geographically and realized a moderate improvement in 
overall later year market activity in the electrical industry in the U.S. 
and Canada. While the European market remained depressed, the 
market in India also indicated little improvement in 2013. Additional 
sales growth came from further expansion of our global markets 
and sales attributed to the acquisition of Marnate in Italy effective 
February 1, 2013.  Marnate not only expands HPS’ European presence, 
but also broadens the product offering and manufacturing capabilities 
in cast resin technology. These factors will allow the Company to 
continue to grow its market share globally with an expanded product 
offering and with new customers. Our consolidated growth strategy 

is evidenced by this acquisition, overall increased quotation activity 
and late year order booking rates. The Company’s strategies relating 
to its expertise in custom engineered products, global presence, 
product breadth, competitive product design and consistent quality 
supported sales and growth in several market segments.
 HPS’ market diversification strategies provide a business hedge, 
as the Company is not single market or industry dependent. 
 The North American Electrical Distributor (“NAED”) channel 
delivered double-digit increased sales as compared to the prior year. 
 Markets that were not immune to the negative cyclical market 
effects in 2013 include the mining, capital equipment, utility, 
switchgear, excitation and power conditioning markets in Canada, 
the U.S. and internationally. Overall quotation and order activity in 
the OEM market segment gained some momentum late in the year. 
 U.S. sales, when stated in U.S. dollars, decreased by $10,346 
from $144,998 in 2012 to $134,652 in 2013, a decrease of 7.1%. 
In 2013, sales to the U.S. market of $138,481 (stated in Canadian 
dollars “CAD”) decreased by $6,604, or 4.6%, compared to 2012 
sales of $145,085. This slight decline demonstrates the Company’s 
ability to maintain stable performance in a continuously difficult 
economic environment. 
 Canadian sales were $79,766, a decrease of $15,701 or 16.4% as 
compared to sales of $95,467 in 2012, as the Company experienced 
decreased performance in the Canadian construction industry.  The 
Company also realized $9,535 of sales in India, an increase of $1,581 
or 19.9% from the sales of $7,954.  While the current year sales 
reflect an entire year of sales compared to ten months in the previous 
year the Company continues to provide stable performance and 
healthy growth. 
 Despite the continuing European economic crisis, European sales 
were $15,159 in 2013 compared to $8,870 in 2012, an increase of 
70.9% or $6,289. The boost in European sales was a result of the 
current year acquisition of Marnate, which contributed $6,497 of sales 
from the acquisition date of February 1, 2013. While the European 
market continues to struggle, the Marnate acquisition ensured the 
Company increased market share. The addition of new technology 
further enhances the Company’s ability to serve new clients and 
new markets.
 Stated by geographic segment, sales in the U.S. were 57.1% 
of our total sales in 2013 versus 56.4% in 2012; sales in Canada 
were 32.8% in 2013 as compared to 37.1% last year; sales within 
Europe accounted for 6.2% of the Company’s overall sales in 2013 
compared to 3.4% in 2012; and sales in India accounted for 3.9% 
of total sales in the current year as compared to 3.1% of overall 
sales in 2012.
 HPS continues to focus on channel sales growth initiatives in 
strategic market segments in the U.S., Canada, Europe and India. The 
Company is committed to producing premium quality transformers 
with competitive custom engineered designs, and to offering a broad 
and evolving product range. We expect that this, combined with 
our capabilities in custom product design, manufacturing agility, 
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competitive lead-times and product breadth will result in sales growth 
through existing and new customer sales.
 The Company is steadfast in its implementation of its market share 
growth and channel expansion strategies in the U.S., Canada, Europe 
and India. This, combined with our strong distribution channel, broad 
product offering and our multi-national manufacturing capabilities, 
will continue to be a competitive advantage and the cornerstone to 
our revenue and profit growth.

Order bookings and backlog

Overall, bookings decreased 2.0% on a direct basis and 0.2% 
through our distributor channel or in total a nominal 1.1% decrease 
as compared to 2012. Without the bookings from Marnate, the direct 
channel order value would have decreased by 7.0%.
 We anticipate that our sales development initiatives will continue 
to deliver better than industry average booking rates in 2014 as a result 
of our sales growth strategies combined with marginal improvements 
in general world economies as well as moderately improving electrical 
market conditions.  The Company is more optimistic about market 
trends and believes it will gain progressively stronger sales momentum 
throughout 2014 resulting in an upward lift of new order bookings 
for 2014.
 Due to the lower bookings from poorer market conditions, 
the Company’s order backlog decreased 12.6% from 2012. With 
the exclusion of Marnate, the Company would have recognized a 
backlog decrease of 15.5% from the prior year. 
 Although currently there is steadiness in many of our customers’ 
booking rates, the Company is sensitive to the volatility and 
unpredictability of current global economies and the impact that 
this will have on booking trends. While several of our markets are 
seeing positive quotation and order trends, the Company is very 
cognizant that it may see some volatility in booking rates but does 
anticipate a trend of higher order bookings year-over-year. 
  
Gross margin

The Company realized relatively stable gross margin rates of 24.9% 
in 2013 versus 25.2% in 2012, a nominal decrease of 0.3% of 
sales. The stability in margin rates can be attributed to a favourable 
product mix, yielded market specific pricing gains and materials and 
engineering cost reductions. This achievement of constant gross 
margin rates is notable as the Company continues to experience 
negative selling price pressures due to the available excess capacity 
currently in the industry.
        As a result of the decline in sales, gross margin dollar contribution 
decreased $4,187 or 6.5% finishing 2013 at $60,601 versus $64,788 
in 2012. Despite the slowing global economic recovery and vacillating 
economic state, the Company continues in building its geographic 
footprint and manufacturing capacity to support future growth.  
In the short-term, the additional fixed costs associated with the 
expansion are dilutive to our net gross margin rates.  As sales grow, 

the favourable impact that higher manufacturing throughput will 
have on absorption of our fixed and managed factory overheads is 
accretive to margin performance and will positively lift gross margin 
rates. This will better match manufacturing capacity requirements 
to anticipated booking and backlog rates. 
 The Company is focused on productivity improvements, cost 
reductions and lead-time enhancements throughout the organization, 
and is confident that these actions combined with increased sales 
and higher manufacturing throughput will further advance our gross 
margin rates.
  
Selling and distribution expenses 

Total selling and distribution expenses were $27,156 for 2013 versus 
$25,894 in 2012, an increase of $1,262 or 4.9%. When compared on 
a percentage of sales basis, total selling and distribution increased 
moderately to 11.2% of sales compared to 10.1% of sales in 2012. 
The selling and distribution expenses for 2013 include an additional 
$621 or 2.3% of total sales expenses, pertaining to Marnate. Excluding 
Marnate, 2013 expenses were $26,535 versus $25,894 in 2012, an 
increase of $641 or 2.5%.
 Freight expenses for the year increased by $132 due to increased 
transportation costs as a result of higher gasoline prices. Freight 
expenses as a percent of sales increased from 2.8% in 2012 to 
3.0% in 2013.  There was also an increase in salaries of $86 in 2013, 
associated with strategic recruitment to support our sales strategies.

General and administrative expense

General and administrative expenses in 2013 were higher by $1,695 
or 8.2%, totaling $22,409 when compared to $20,714 for 2012. On 
a percentage-of-sales basis, these costs were reasonably higher at 
9.2% in 2013 compared to 8.0% in 2012, attributed to the lower 
sales rates in 2013.  
 For comparison purposes, excluding expenses from Marnate, 
general and administrative expenses were $21,974 versus $20,714 
in 2012, an increase of $1,260 or 6.1%. 
 General and administrative costs have been impacted by increased 
information services costs of $250 associated with the Enterprise 
Resource Planning software implementation and acquisition costs of 
$247 related to Marnate in the year, stock option expenses of $358, 
strategic salary investment of $1,259 and international management 
costs of $39.
 General and administrative expenses include international 
operations expenses of $878 in 2012 versus $516 in 2013. 
 A significant portion of HPS general and administrative costs 
are in support of its strategic growth initiatives and investment in 
its people resources, specifically in the areas of sales, engineering 
and information services. 
 While the Company values the importance of this investment 
which supports future growth and improved financial performance, 
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it remains very cognizant of prudent general and administrative 
expense management. 

Earnings from operations

Earnings from operations were $11,036 in 2013, as compared to 
$18,180 in 2012, a decrease of $7,144 or 39.3%. Excluding Marnate, 
earnings from operations were $10,809 in 2013, as compared to 
$18,180 in 2012, a decrease of $7,371 or 40.5%.
 The earnings from operations are reflective of a volatile sales 
year experienced in several market segments, lower manufacturing 
throughput and a company building for growth. Earnings from 
operations for the year were favourably impacted by solid gross 
margin rates offset by a modest increase in investment in selling, 
general and administrative expenses. 
 Earnings from operations are calculated as outlined in the 
following table:

   2013  2012
Net earnings for the year $   6,104 $ 12,611
Add:
Income tax expense   3,863  5,887
Finance and other costs (income)   1,069   (318)
Earnings from operations $  11,036 $ 18,180

Interest expense

The interest expense for the year-ended December 31, 2013, finished 
at $860 as compared to $695 in 2012, an increase of $165 or 23.7%. 
The increase in interest expense is a result of higher operating debt 
levels related to the assumption of debt on the purchase of Marnate 
and a small increase in interest rates. Interest expense includes all 
bank fees. 

Foreign exchange gain/loss

The foreign exchange loss in 2013 of $80 related primarily to the 
transactional exchange gain or loss pertaining to the Company’s 
U.S. dollar trade accounts payable in Canada, compared to a foreign 
exchange gain of $775 in 2012. 
    At December 31, 2013, the Company had outstanding foreign 
exchange contracts in place for 10,100 EUR and $7,000 U.S., both 
implemented as a hedge against translation gains and losses on 
inter-company loans and $11,000 U.S. to hedge the U.S. dollar 
accounts payable in the Canadian operations of HPS. The details 
of the foreign exchange contracts outstanding as at December 31, 
2013 are discussed in Note 23 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements contained in our 2013 Annual Report.

Income taxes

As a result of a decrease in income before income tax expense, 
2013 income tax expense is $3,863 as compared to $5,887 in 2012, 

a decrease of $2,024. The consolidated effective tax rate for 2013 
increased to 38.8% versus 31.8% last year, a difference of 7%. In 
2013, non-tax-deductible costs, including expenses incurred for the 
Company’s acquisition activities and stock option expense, increased 
the effective tax expense rate by 1.3%. Unrecognized tax assets 
relating to tax losses increased the effective tax rate by 2.9%, the 
proportion of income earned in higher tax jurisdictions increased 
the effective tax rate by 1.7% and a smaller proportion of earnings 
eligible for reduced rates together with other items increased the 
effective rate by 1.1%.
 The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are related to 
temporary differences in various tax jurisdictions, primarily reserves 
and allowances, which are not deductible in the current year, a 
difference in the carrying value of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets for accounting purposes and for tax purposes 
as a result of business combination accounting and a different basis 
of depreciation utilized for tax purposes.  Our income tax provision is 
explained further in Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements contained in our 2013 Annual Report.

Net earnings

2013 income before income taxes declined to $9,967 as compared to 
$18,498 in 2012, a decrease of $8,531 or 46.1%. The decrease is a 
result of lower sales, a slight decrease in gross margin and a foreign 
exchange loss of $80 in the current year compared to a significant 
gain of $775 in 2012. Our 2013 net earnings were $6,104 versus 
$12,611 in 2012, a decrease of $6,507 or 51.6%. Net earnings were 
also impacted by a higher effective tax rate when compared to 2012.  

EBITDA

EBITDA for the year-ended December 31, 2013 was $16,924 versus 
$24,352 in 2012, a decrease of $7,428 or 30.5%. Adjusted for both 
foreign exchange and gains on copper forward contracts, adjusted 
EBITDA for Fiscal 2013 was $17,004 versus $23,276 in Fiscal 2012, 
a decrease of $6,272 or 26.9%. 
 EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA is calculated as outlined in the 
following table:
  2013  2012
Net earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611
Add:  
Interest expense  860  695 
Income tax expense  3,863  5,887
Depreciation and amortization  6,097  5,159
EBITDA $ 16,924 $ 24,352
Add (Deduct):  
Foreign exchange losses/(gain)  80  (775)
Gain on copper forward contracts     –   (301)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 17,004 $ 23,276
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Summary of quarterly fi nancial information (unaudited)

Fiscal 2013 Quarters Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Sales $ 63,672 $  59,072 $  57,393 $  62,804 $   242,941

Net earnings $ 1,907 $  510 $  792 $  2,895 $  6,104

Net earnings per share – basic $ 0.16 $  0.04 $  0.07 $  0.25 $  0.52

Net earnings per share – diluted $ 0.16 $  0.04 $  0.07 $  0.25 $  0.52

Average U.S. to Canadian exchange rate $ 1.007 $  1.022 $  1.038 $  1.026 $     1.0290

Fiscal 2012 Quarters Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Sales $  65,654 $  65,486  $  63,703 $  62,533 $   257,376

Net earnings $ 2,518 $  2,811 $  2,552 $  4,730 $  12,611

Net earnings per share – basic $        0.22            $  0.24 $  0.21 $  0.41 $  1.08

Net earnings per share – diluted $ 0.22 $  0.24 $  0.21 $  0.41 $  1.08

Average U.S. to Canadian exchange rate $ 1.002 $  1.009 $  1.000 $  0.9913 $    1.0005

Historically, the first quarter of the Company’s fiscal year has had 
lower revenues due to a general decline in activity in the construction 
industry and overall electrical markets as many projects are just getting 
underway.  This trend has continued throughout the year and into 
Quarter 3, 2013. Sales in Quarter 3, 2013 have shown a decrease from 
the prior year due to a general economic decline.  Sales in Quarter 4, 
2013 showed an increase over the past few quarters and prior year 
as general business activity has improved.  A full quarter compared 

to just one month of sales for Quarter 1, 2012 of PETE, as well as 
additional sales from the acquisition of Marnate also contributed to 
this increase. Sales in Quarter 4, 2013 have continued the positive 
year-over-year trend of Quarter 4, 2012 as a result of higher bookings 
in Quarter 4 and Marnate acquisition sales. The year-to-year quarterly 
fluctuations in both sales and income are affected by the changes 
in the U.S. to Canadian foreign exchange rates, changing economic 
conditions, and competitive pricing pressures.   

Quarter 4, 2013 fi nancial results

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Sales $ 62,804 $  62,533

Earnings from operations $ 4,157 $ 5,545

Exchange gain $           217              $            393

Net earnings $  2,895          $ 4,730

Earnings per share – basic $ 0.25 $ 0.41

Earnings per share – diluted $  0.25 $ 0.41

Cash (used in) provided by operations $  (2,674)       $ 10,462       
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Sales for the quarter ended December 31, 2013 were $62,804 a 
slight increase of $271 or 0.4% from the comparative quarter last 
year, which is reflective of the impact of the continued demand for 
our product, sales contribution from the newly acquired company 
Marnate and a favorable product mix.
 Quarter 4, 2013 gross margin dollars decreased by $529 compared 
to Quarter 4, 2012. Gross margin rate decreased to 27.1% in Quarter 
4, 2013 versus 28.1% in Quarter 4, 2012 as a result of sales mix and 
lower manufacturing throughput.
  Total selling and distribution expenses amounted to $7,461 
in Quarter 4, 2013 versus $6,773 in Quarter 4, 2012, an increase 
of $688 or 10.2%. The selling expenses attributable to Marnate in 
Quarter 4, 2013 were $239.
 The general and administrative expenses for Quarter 4, 2013 
totaled $5,394, an increase of $171 or 3.3% when compared to 
Quarter 4, 2012 costs of $5,223. This increase in Quarter 4, 2013 
compared to Quarter 4, 2012 is attributed to additional general and 
administrative costs related to Marnate of $129. The foreign exchange 
gain in Quarter 4, 2013 was $217 compared to a foreign exchange 
gain of $393 in Quarter 4, 2012. The majority of the Quarter 4, 2013 
foreign exchange gains is a result of transactional gains in Canada 
due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian 
dollar in the quarter.
  Earnings from operations for the quarter were positively 
impacted by slightly higher sales which were offset by a small decline 
in margin rates. These factors produced comparable gross margin 
dollars, which were partially offset by higher selling, distribution and 
administration expenses. Quarter 4, 2013 earnings from operations 
were down $1,388 or 25.0% from the same quarter last year, finishing 
at $4,157 in the quarter as compared to $5,545 in Quarter 4, 2012.
 Quarter 4, 2013 income tax expense was $1,294 on earnings 
before income taxes of $4,189 (an effective tax rate of 30.9%) as 
compared to an income tax expense of $1,101 on earnings before 
income taxes of $5,831 (an effective tax rate of 18.9%) in Quarter 
4, 2012, an increase of $193. The higher effective tax rate in 2013 is 
primarily the result of acquisition costs in 2013 not being deductible 
for tax purposes, minimum tax expense at EH and no recognition of 
the tax benefit of losses in EH.
 Net earnings for Quarter 4, 2013 were $2,895 compared to 
$4,730 in Quarter 4, 2012, a decrease of $1,835 or 38.8%. Cash used 
in operations for Quarter 4, 2013 was $2,819 versus cash provided 
by operations of $10,462 in Quarter 4, 2012, a decrease of $13,281. 
The decrease in the cash generated from operations was primarily 
due to a fluctuation in the changes in non-cash working capital from 
a use of cash in the quarter of $5,880 compared to generation of 
cash of $4,285 during Quarter 4, 2012.
 Cash, net of operating lines of credit, finished the year in a 
net operating debt position of $15,959 as at December 31 2013, a 
decrease of $17,111 as compared to a net cash balance of $1,152 as 
at December 31, 2012, primarily reflecting acquisition activity and 
cash used in operations during the year.

Capital resources and liquidity

The Company continued to focus on generating cash from operations, 
debt management, investment and liquidity.
 Cash provided from operating activities during 2013 was $765 
versus $21,371 in 2012, a decrease in cash generated from operations 
of $20,606. This decrease is mostly due to lower net earnings of 
$6,507 and higher working capital usage, a swing of $10,942 from 
2012. The change in non-cash working capital of $8,790 for 2013 
is as a result of increases in accounts receivable and inventories, a 
decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities offset by foreign 
exchange adjustments.
 Accounts receivable finished the year at $49,302 as compared to 
$41,607 as at December 31, 2012, an increase of $7,695 which was 
a result of extended terms to several customers and slower fiscal cash 
receipts from customers. There was also the assumption of additional 
accounts receivable of $1,772 from the acquisition of Marnate when 
comparing year-to-year. The Company was attentive to its customer 
accounts receivable collections cycle time and current inventory 
turnover rates in 2013. Even with the acquisition of Marnate and 
commercial terms typical in India where credit terms are traditionally 
longer, the Company’s days’ sales outstanding ratio remains below 
industry standards, which can be attributed to effective credit policies 
and tightly managed accounts receivable administration.
  Inventories finished the year at $39,327 as at December 31, 
2013, versus $35,172 as at December 31, 2012, an increase of 
$4,155. This increase can be attributed to a planned increase in levels 
of standard products due to the growth in customer demand as a 
result of slightly improved economic conditions and to the additional 
inventory investment at Marnate.
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased by $1,526 
finishing at $39,216 as at December 31, 2013 compared to $37,690 
at the end of 2012 due to higher purchases to support sales growth 
and additional accounts payable related to Marnate.
    For comparison purposes on a year-to-date basis, excluding the 
impact of the Marnate acquisition; accounts receivable has increased 
by $6,345 due to strong fourth quarter sales, inventories increased by 
$2,863 as a result of higher production and trade accounts payable 
increased by $306 as a result of the timing of purchases and payments.
 Net income taxes receivable were $2,862 (income taxes recoverable 
of $2,887 less income taxes payable of $25) as at December 31, 2013, 
versus net income taxes payable of $607 (income taxes recoverable 
of $720 less income taxes payable of $1,327) as at December 31, 
2012 a change of $3,469.
 Cash generated in financing activities was $10,751 in 2013, 
compared to cash generated of $4,939 in 2012, a change of $5,812. 
This change was due to increases in bank operating lines, which 
were offset by payment of dividends of $2,328 and repayment of 
debt of $880. The Company’s long-term debt of $5,145 is a result 
of repayment of previously outstanding debt and the assumption 
of Marnate’s long-term debt of $3,713. This is explained further in 
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Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained 
in our 2013 Annual Report.
 Cash used in investing activities in 2013 decreased $5,797 from 
2012 as a result of the purchase of Marnate for $9,394, including 
cash acquired of $273, as compared to the purchase of PETE for 
$15,410 in 2012. There was a slight decrease in capital spending 
of $360 over the prior year, totaling $3,687 in 2013, compared to 
$4,047 for 2012. Expanded manufacturing capacity, new product 
development and information technology infrastructure were areas 
of capital expenditure spending. In addition there was “normal” 
maintenance capital invested at all facilities and manufacturing 
product mandate projects.
 The Company also saw an increase in intangible asset purchases 
of $579, mostly related to software, totaling $1,472 in 2013 versus 
$893 in 2012. 
 Bank operating lines of credit finished the year at $27,183 as 
at December 31, 2013, compared to $12,568 as at December 31, 
2012 resulting in an increase of $14,615 in the year.
 Overall cash balances net of debt bank lines of credit resulted in 
net debt of $15,959 as at December 31 2013, a decrease of $17,111 
as compared to a net cash balance of $1,152 as at December 31, 
2012, primarily reflecting acquisition activity of $9,394 and cash 
used in operations during the year.
 During 2012, the Company completed a new financing arrangement 
with JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. for a $25,000 U.S. revolving credit 
facility, a $5,000 U.S. overdraft facility, a  4,000 Euro overdraft facility 
and a $10,000 U.S. delayed draw credit facility. This is an unsecured 
5-year committed facility that provides financing certainty for the 
future. The new financing better aligns our Canadian, U.S. and 
European banking requirements, supports our hedging strategies, 
and provides financing for our operational requirements and capital 
for our strategic initiatives.
 In Quarter 2, 2013 the Company renegotiated the financing 
agreement to allow the netting of cash against the operating debt, 
thus reducing the interest costs to the organization as a result of 
improving the Company’s borrowing position on its interest pricing 
matrix in the financing arrangement signed on March 22, 2012; 
thereby lowering the cost of borrowing by approximately 0.25%.
 All bank covenants were met as at December 31, 2013, and 
the Company was in compliance with its covenants throughout 
the year.
 The Company’s growth strategy includes the pursuit of strategic 
acquisitions, which would primarily be funded by cash from operations 
and our existing available credit facility of 40,000 U.S., against which 
the Company has currently drawn $27,183, supplemented by debt 
financing as required. The Company’s financial objective is to ensure 
that the Company has sufficient cash and debt capacity to fund its 
operating activities, investments and growth. The Company has 
several alternatives to fund future capital requirements, including 
its existing cash position, credit facility, future operating cash flows 
and debt or equity financing. The Company continually evaluates 

these options to ensure that the appropriate mix of capital resources 
is maintained to best meet our needs.
  The Company has capital expenditure commitments of $724 
primarily for manufacturing capacity expansion and new product 
development in support of future business development and growth.
 Additional details of our change in non-cash working capital 
can be found in Note 21 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements contained in our 2013 Annual Report.

Contractual obligations

The following table outlines payments due for each of the next 
5 years and thereafter related to debt, lease, purchase and other 
long-term obligations.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Total

Operating leases $ 2,147 $ 1,467 $ 856 $ 145 $    99 $ 4,714

Accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities

39,216 – – – – 39,216

Derivative liabilities 19 – – – – 19

Capital expenditure 
purchase commitments

724 – – – – 724

Operating lines of credit 27,183 – – – – 27,183

Long-term debt 857 360 3,928 –         – 5,145

Total $70,146 $ 1,827 $ 4,784 $  145 $   99 $77,001 

  
Put option liability
In relation to the non-controlling interest in PETE, HPS has an irrevocable 
call option exercisable at any time after February 23, 2016, and in 
certain other circumstances, to purchase the remaining securities of 
PETE from the non-controlling interests at fair value and has also 
granted a put option exercisable at any time after February 23, 2019, 
and in certain other circumstances, to cause HPS to purchase the 
remaining securities of PETE at fair value from the non-controlling 
interests. As the exercise price of the call and put option are at fair 
value, the fair value of the instruments are considered nominal. The 
Company has not recognized the present value of the redemption 
price of the put option as a liability as at December 31, 2013 as it 
is not considered material to the consolidated financial statements. 

Contingent liabilities 

In December, 2013, The Corporation received notice of an environmental 
claim from the owner of a property located nearby to a property 
that was once partially owned by the Corporation. At this time the 
Company feels that there is no merit to the claim.  

Management is not aware of any other contingent liabilities.

Normal course issuer bid 

On March 15, 2012, the Board of Directors authorized the share 
repurchase of up to 50,000 of its Class A Subordinate Voting Shares 
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(“Class A Shares”) representing 0.57% of the 8,806,624 Class A Shares 
outstanding as of March 9, 2012, by way of a normal course issuer 
bid (“NCIB”) through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange 
(the “TSX”). Daily purchases were limited to 2,099 Class A Shares, 
other than block purchase exceptions, which is 25% of the average 
daily trading volume of 8,398 Class A Shares of HPS on the TSX in 
the preceding six calendar months.
 The purchases commenced on May 11, 2012 and were to 
terminate no later than March 18, 2013. Purchases were made in 
open market transactions on the TSX. During 2012 the Company 
purchased 50,000 Class A shares at a cost of $465,000. The 
plan was completed and terminated November 12, 2012. The 
average purchase price was $9.27. There were no purchases made 
during 2013.
 Decisions regarding the timing of repurchases were based on 
market conditions, share price and other factors. Class A shares 
repurchased under the bid were cancelled. The Company did not 
have an NCIB in 2013.
 The Company authorized the NCIB as it believed current market 
conditions provide opportunities for HPS to acquire Class A shares 
at attractive prices, and therefore represented an appropriate use 
of HPS funds designed to enhance shareholder value.

Regular quarterly dividend declared 

The Board of Directors of Hammond Power Solutions Inc. (“HPS”) 
declared a quarterly cash dividend of five cents ($0.05) per Class A 
Subordinate Voting Share of HPS and a quarterly cash dividend of 
five cents ($0.05) per Class B Common Share of HPS.
 The Quarter 1 dividend was payable on March 28, 2013 to 
shareholders of record at the close of business on March 21, 2013. 
The ex-dividend date was March 19, 2013. The Quarter 2 dividend 
was payable on June 27, 2013 to shareholders of record at the close 
of business on the 20th day of June 2013. The ex-dividend date 
was June 18, 2013. The dividend for Quarter 3 was payable on 
September 19, 2013 to shareholders of record at the close of business 
on September 17, 2013. The ex-dividend date was September 17, 
2013. The final dividend for 2013 was payable on December 30, 2013 
to shareholders of record at the close of business on 
December 20, 2013.  The ex-dividend date was December 18, 2013.
 Year-to-date, the Company has paid a cash dividend of twenty 
cents ($0.20) per Class A Subordinate Voting Share and twenty cents 
($0.20) per Class B Common Share.

Controls and procedures

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are 
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures and for establishing and maintaining adequate internal 
controls over financial reporting. The control framework used in the 

design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control 
over financial reporting is the Internal Control Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO Framework”). Our internal control system was 
designed to provide reasonable assurance to our Management and 
Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of 
published financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. All internal control systems, no matter how well 
designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems 
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance 
with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
 As at December 31, 2013, we conducted an evaluation, under 
the supervision and with the participation of the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the 
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based 
on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer have concluded that as of December 31, 2013 such disclosure 
controls and procedures were operating effectively.
 The Company acquired Marnate on February 12, 2013 and has 
included the financial results of Marnate as part of HPS’ consolidated 
financial results as of February 1, 2013 for administrative convenience. 
Management has substantially completed its assessment of the 
design or operating effectiveness of Marnate’s disclosure controls 
and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting.
 On May 14, 2013 the COSO Framework released an updated 
version of the 1992 internal control integrated framework, referred to 
as “2013 COSO”.  The original framework will be available through 
December 15, 2014, at which time the 1992 framework will be 
suspended. The Company is in the process of reviewing the changes 
to the framework and developing a transition plan to adopt the new 
framework for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2014.

Internal controls over fi nancial reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate 
internal controls over financial reporting. Our internal control system 
was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our Management and 
Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of 
published financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. All internal control systems, no matter how well 
designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems 
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance 
with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. 
 Canadian Securities Administrators require that companies certify 
the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting. It also 
requires a company to use a control framework such as the COSO 
Framework to design internal controls over financial reporting. As 
well, the threshold for reporting a weakness of internal controls over 
financial reporting should be of a “material weakness” rather than 
“reportable deficiency.” HPS has designed its internal controls in 
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accordance with the COSO Framework and has carried out retesting 
in 2013, which was completed in the fourth quarter.
 As of December 31, 2013 Management, with the supervision 
and participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Based on that assessment, the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the internal 
controls are effective and that there were no material weaknesses 
in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2013. 

Changes in internal control over fi nancial reporting and 
disclosure controls and procedures

During 2013 there were no material changes identified in HPS’ internal 
controls over financial reporting that had materially affected, or 
were reasonably likely to materially affect HPS’ internal control over 
financial reporting. HPS does carry out ongoing improvements to 
its internal controls over financial reporting but nothing considered 
at a material level. 

Purchase of Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l. (“Marnate”) 

On February 12, 2013, Hammond Power Solutions Inc. signed 
an agreement for the acquisition of Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l. 
(“Marnate”) in Italy, acquiring a 100% equity ownership of its cast 
resin transformer business for 7,213 EUR ($9,667 CAD). Marnate is 
involved in the design and manufacture of standard and custom cast 
resin transformers and has an excellent reputation in the industry 
for product quality and reliability. Marnate’s 2012 annual revenues 
were approximately $8,000 CAD. 
 Under the terms of the definitive agreement with Marnate, 
HPS also committed to the purchase of certain real properties that are 
currently used by Marnate to carry out its business for an additional 
payment of approximately $3,713 CAD. The Company operates as 
Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l., a subsidiary of HPS.
 Marnate not only expands HPS’ European presence, but also 
broadens our product offering and manufacturing capabilities in cast 
resin technology; it also supports HPS’s growth strategies globally. 
Marnate has a reputation in the electrical industry for its standard 
and engineered to order capabilities and quality.
 The acquisition also supports HPS’ global growth strategies 
and product offering in new global markets. 
 Management feels that by building on the strengths of both 
companies, this acquisition will enhance HPS’ market share strategies 
and performance going forward.

Total purchase consideration is comprised of the following:

Cash  $ 9,667

Identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at 
February 1, 2013 were as follows: 

Cash  $  273
Accounts receivable      1,350
Inventory    1,292
Prepaid expenses    112
Income taxes recoverable    215
Future income tax asset      71
Property, plant and equipment      6,713
Intangible assets    2,469
Goodwill    3,767
Total Assets  $   16,262
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    ( 1,220)
Provisions and other liabilities    (67)
Future income tax liability    (1,595)
Note payable    (3,713)
Total liabilities  $   (6,595)
Total purchase consideration  $   9,667

 At December 30, 2013, Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l. and Euroelettro 
Hammond S.p.a. (“EH”) merged to form one operating entity. 
The Company currently operates as Hammond Power Solutions s.r.l.
 This merger facilitates the identification of Hammond Power 
Solutions in Europe. 

Subsequent events 

Dividends

On March 7, 2014 Hammond Power Solutions Inc. declared a 
quarterly cash dividend of six cents ($0.06) per Class A subordinate 
voting share and a quarterly cash dividend of six cents ($0.06) per 
Class B common share of HPS, payable on March 27, 2014 to the 
shareholders of record at the close of business on March 20, 2014. 
The ex-dividend date was March 18, 2014.



Decrease in tax rate
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Risks and uncertainties

As with most businesses, HPS is subject to a number of market place, 
industry and economic related business risks, which could have some 
material impact on our operating results. These risks include:

•  The cyclical effects, unpredictability and  volatility of market 
costs and supply pressures for commodities such as copper, 
insulation and electrical grain oriented steel;

•  A significant, unexpected change in the global demand for 
resources; 

•  Unpredictability of the Canadian dollar versus the 
U.S. dollar;

•  Global economic recession;
•  Interest rates;
•  Unpredictable weather trends;
•  Government protectionism;
•  Competition;
•  Credit risk; and
•  Global political unrest.

 The Company is very cognizant of these risks and continually 
assesses the current and potential impacts that they have on the 
business. HPS continuously works to lessen the negative impact of 
these risks through diversification of its core business, market channel 
expansion, breadth of product offering, geographic diversity of its 
operations and business hedging strategies.
 There are, however, several risks that deserve particular attention:

Commodity prices
An area that has had a definite impact on the Company’s costs 
and earnings is the cyclical effects and unprecedented market cost 
pressures of copper commodity and steel pricing in the global market. 
Due to this unpredictability, particularly with copper pricing, HPS has 
in the past utilized a future contracts hedging strategy. The hedging 
program was discontinued in 2011. Strategic supply line agreements 
and alliances are in place with our major steel suppliers to ensure 
adequate supply and competitive market pricing.

Foreign exchange
HPS’ functional currency is the Canadian dollar and its operating results 
are reported in Canadian dollars (“CAD”). A significant portion of the 
Company sales and material purchases are denominated in U.S. dollars 
(“USD”). While there is a natural hedge, as sales denominated in 
U.S. dollars are partially offset by the cost of raw materials purchased 
from the U.S. and commodities tied to U.S. dollar pricing, a change 
in the value of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar will impact 
earnings. In general, a lower value for the Canadian dollar compared 
to the U.S. dollar will have a beneficial impact on the Company’s 
results. Inversely, a higher value for the Canadian dollar compared 
to the U.S. dollar will have a corresponding negative impact on the 
Company’s profitability.

 The Company also has a U.S. operating subsidiary and U.S. dollar 
assets. The exchange rate between the Canadian and U.S. dollar 
can vary significantly from year-to-year. There is a corresponding 
positive or negative impact to the Company’s Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position solely related to the foreign exchange translation of its U.S. 
Balance Sheet.
 We have partially reduced the impact of foreign exchange 
fluctuations through increasing our U.S. dollar driven manufacturing 
output and have further enhanced our geographic manufacturing 
hedge through the acquisition of Delta Transformers Inc. This operation 
is a buyer of raw materials priced in U.S. dollars and essentially 
has all of its sales in Canada. The Company had also lessened its 
intercompany loan transactional exchange rate risk by entering into  
forward foreign exchange contracts.
 Finally, HPS periodically institutes price increases to help offset 
the negative impact of changes in foreign exchange and product cost 
increases.

Unpredictable weather/natural disasters
The Company’s order booking and sales trends may be negatively 
impacted by extreme weather conditions such as heavy rains, flooding, 
snowfall, tornadoes and hurricanes. 
 The Company may see short-term effects of such occurrences 
due their unpredictability. This may impact delivery and capacity 
requirements.

Interest rates
The Company has structured its debt financing to take advantage 
of the current lower interest rates, but is cognizant that a rise in 
interest rates will negatively impact the financial results. The Company 
continuously reviews its interest rate strategy and with current lower 
short-term interest rates has not entered into any long-term contracts.
 As part of hedging this risk, the Company may enter into 
fixed long-term rates on part of its total debt. It is the Company’s 
determination that the interest rate premium to secure longer 
term interest rates does not provide an economic advantage. The 
Company believes that a more significant impact of a rise in interest 
rates would apply to our customers’ investment decisions and 
financing capabilities.

Credit
A substantial portion of the Company’s accounts receivable are with 
customers in manufacturing sectors and are subject to credit risks 
normal to those industries. Although the Company has historically 
incurred very low bad debt expense, the current economic conditions 
increase this exposure.
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Global/North American economy
Given the negative economic environment, particularly in Europe 
and North America, we are focusing our efforts on projects that 
will increase our cost competitiveness, capacity and improve our 
manufacturing flexibility. 
 The Company believes that being agile, as an organization will 
become even more important in order to respond quickly to both 
unexpected opportunities and challenges. We also believe that 
through our OEM and distributor channels, our growing access to a 
variety of global and domestic markets will help HPS expand market 
share during this economic slowdown.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Company has no off-Balance Sheet arrangements, other than 
operating leases disclosed in Note 12 in the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements contained in our 2013 Annual Report.

Transactions with related parties

The Company had transactions with related parties in 2013, as 
disclosed in Note 19 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements contained in our 2013 Annual Report.

Proposed transactions

The Company had no proposed transactions as at December 31, 2013. 
The Company continues to evaluate potential business expansion 
initiatives in accordance with its long-term growth strategy.

Financial instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts 
receivable, bank operating lines of credit, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, long-term debt and the following derivative instruments:
 At December 31, 2013, the Company had outstanding foreign 
exchange contracts in place for 10,100 EUR and $7,000 USD both 
implemented as an economic hedge against translation gains and 
losses on inter-company loans and $11,000 USD to economically 
hedge the U.S. dollar accounts payable in the Canadian operations of 
HPS. The Company had total outstanding foreign exchange contracts 
in place as at December 31, 2012 for 6,900 EUR, and $5,700 USD 
as economic hedges against translation gains and losses on inter-
company loans and $12,000 USD to hedge the U.S. dollar accounts 
payable in the Canadian operations.
  Further details regarding the Company’s financial 
instruments and the associated risks are disclosed In 
Note 23 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
contained in our 2013 Annual Report.

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are 
based upon Management’s historical experience and various other 
assumptions that are believed by Management to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 
 Such assumptions and estimates are evaluated on an ongoing 
basis and form the basis for making judgments about the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates. The 
Company assesses the carrying value of its property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and goodwill every year, or more often 
if necessary. If it is determined that we cannot recover the carrying 
value of an asset or goodwill, the unrecoverable amount is written 
off against current earnings. The Company bases its assessment of 
recoverability on assumptions and judgments about future prices, 
demand and manufacturing costs. A material change in any of 
these assumptions could have a significant impact on the potential 
impairment and/or useful lives of these assets.

Outstanding share data

Details of the Company’s outstanding share data as of 
December 31, 2013, are as follows:
  8,891,624 Class A Shares
  2,778,300 Class B Common Shares
 11,669,924 Total Class A and B Shares

There have been no material changes to the outstanding share data 
as of the date of this report.

New accounting pronouncements

The International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following 
Standards, Interpretations and amendments to Standards that are 
not yet effective and while considered relevant to the Company, have 
not yet been adopted by the Company.

Financial instruments
In October 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”). This standard is part of 
a wider project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. IFRS 9 replaces the current multiple classification 
and measurement models for financial assets and liabilities with a 
single model that has only two classification categories: amortized 
cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s 
business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
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financial asset or liability. In 2013 the IASB issued under IFRS 9 a 
more principles based general hedging model that aligns hedge 
accounting more closely with risk management. The IASB currently 
has an active project to make limited amendments to the classification 
and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 that proposes to introduce 
another measurement category, fair value through comprehensive 
income, for financial assets that are held for both the collection of 
cash flows and for sale and add new requirements to address the 
impairment of financial assets and macro hedge accounting. The 
mandatory effective date is not yet determined; however, early 
adoption is still permitted. When an entity adopts IFRS 9, it will 
have an accounting policy change to defer application of the general 
hedge accounting model until the standard from the IASB’s project 
on macro hedge accounting is effective. 
 The Company does not intend to adopt IFRS 9 in its financial 
statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2014. The 
classification and measurement of the Company’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities is not expected to change under IFRS 9 because 
of the nature of the Company’s operations and the types of financial 
assets and liabilities that it holds.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities 
The amendments to IAS 32 which are effective for years commencing 
on or after January 1, 2014, clarify the guidance as to when an entity 
has a legally enforceable right to set off financial assets and financial 
liabilities, and, clarify when a settlement mechanism provides for net 
settlement.  The Company intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 
32 in its consolidated financial statements for the year commencing 
January 1, 2014. The Company does not expect the amendments 
to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Defi ned Benefi t Plans: Employee Contributions
In November 2013, the IASB issued amendments to pension accounting 
under IAS 19, Employee Benefits.  This amendment will reduce the 
complexity of accounting for certain contributions from employees or 
third parties.  When employee contributions are eligible, a Company 
is permitted to recognize them as a reduction of the service cost in 
the period in which the related service is rendered.  The Company 
intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 19 in its consolidated 
financial statements for the year commencing January 1, 2014. The 
Company does not expect the amendments to have a material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements. 

Recoverable Amounts 
This standard was amended in May 2013 to change the disclosure 
required when an impairment loss is recognized or reversed. The 
amendments require the disclosure of the recoverable amount of 
an asset or cash generating unit at the time an impairment loss 
has been recognized or reversed and detailed disclosure of how the 
associated fair value less costs of disposal has been determined.  The 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014 with earlier adoption permitted. The 
Company is presently evaluating the impact of adopting this 
additional disclosure. 

IFRIC 21, Levies
The IFRIC interpretation provides guidance on accounting for levies in 
accordance with the requirements of IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
 The interpretation defines a levy as an outflow from an entity 
imposed by a government in accordance with legislation. It also notes 
that levies do not arise from executory contracts or other contractual 
arrangements. 
 The interpretation also confirms that an entity recognizes 
a liability for a levy only when the triggering event specified 
in the legislation occurs. The Company intends to adopt IFRIC 
21 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning 
January 1, 2014. The extent of the impact of adoption of the 
amendments has not yet been determined.

Annual Improvements to IFRS (2010 – 2012) and 

(2011-2013) Cycles
In December 2013, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to a 
total of nine standards as part of its annual improvements process. 
The IASB uses the annual improvements process to make non-urgent 
but necessary amendments to IFRS. Most amendments will apply 
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014; 
earlier application is permitted, in which case, the related consequential 
amendments to other IFRSs would also apply. 
 Amendments were made to clarify the following in their 
respective standards:
• IFRS version that a first-time adopter can apply in IFRS 1 First-

time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• Definition of “vesting condition” in IFRS 2 Share-based payment;
• Classification and measurement of contingent consideration 

and scope exclusion for the formation of joint arrangements in 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations;

• Disclosures on the aggregation of operating segments in 
IFRS 8 Operating segments;

• Measurement of short-term receivables and payables; and scope 
of portfolio exception in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

• Restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortization) on 
revaluation in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 
38 Intangible Assets.

 The Company intends to adopt these amendments in its financial 
statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2014. The 
extent of the impact of adoption of the amendments has not yet 
been determined. 
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Strategic direction and outlook

As evidenced in the 2013 Annual Report, HPS continues to expand 
in Canada, the U.S., Europe and India, despite the erratic global 
economies as well as the soft electrical market over the last year. 
The Company is very aware of the volatility of the global economic 
climate particularly in North America and Europe, the unpredictability 
of global currencies and as well as the variability of raw material 
commodity costs. The Company continues to manage these deterrents 
in a deliberate and direct manner through its operational projects 
and strategic initiatives.
 The Company showed stable performance across many financial 
and operational metrics and is proud of these accomplishments, is 
stronger and more capable of enduring economic uncertainty and 
looks forward to the many opportunities that the future holds.
 The Company is not immune to the challenges it faces from these 
negative influences however is confident that the business fundamentals 
that it has built will sustain and grow the Company in the near future 
and over the long-term. The Company believes that this continues 
to be a time to be prudent but not complacent, conservative but 
progressive. It will be determined in its pursuit of improved productivity 
gains, sales growth from new product development, 
geographic diversification, capacity expansion and escalation of 
market share.
 We will continue to focus our efforts on increasing profit rates 
through selling price increases, aggressive sales growth, geographic 
manufacturing dispersion, global expansion, productivity gains, new 
product development and market share penetration.
 We expect sales growth will be realized in several of our 
market segments but will remain at lower levels in others. 
A portion of our sales will come from major customer projects for 
which the exact timing is hard to predict, thus influencing quarterly 
sales fluctuations.

 HPS is positioned to meet the evolving needs of our traditional 
markets while becoming a central player in a growing number of 
emerging sectors. Our success lies in our resilience, dedication and 
commitment, in taking advantage of our decades of experience, 
our engineering expertise, solid supplier relationships and a unique 
business perspective gained through our diverse products, customers 
and markets. 
 Our global footprint will be critical to building the Company’s 
future success.
 The Company is committed to investing in capital and ensuring 
our strategic advantage going forward. We will continue to concentrate 
on our disciplined cost management initiatives and in bringing quality 
and value to all stakeholders of the Company. We will make every 
effort to deliver solid financial performance, provide a sustainable 
return to our shareholders and maintain the financial strength of 
the Company.
 We remain optimistic about our company’s future. The Company 
is committed to drive accountability on many levels—from revenue 
creation, expense management, cash flow generation, and market 
share growth to overall profitability and strategic direction to ensure 
HPS future success.
 We are firmly committed to delivering long-term value to our 
shareholders while driving profitable growth and staying focused 
on the success of our customers and partners. U



Selected Annual and Quarterly Information

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

Annual Information

2009 2010 IFRS 
Restated 2011 2012 2013

Sales  195,437  190,604  221,323 257,376 242,941

Earnings from operations 18,943  13,642  13,039 18,180 11,036

EBITDA  19,816  19,500  15,538 24,352 16,924

Net earnings for the year  9,631  10,652  5,993 12,611 6,104

Total assets  106,597  118,643  137,520 160,049 186,878

Total liabilities  29,094  32,360  46,072 58,404 77,827

Total cash (debt) 10,024  17,694  1,681 (990) (21,104)

Cash provided from operations  26,418  14,109  6,592 21,371 765

Basic earnings per share  0.82  0.92  0.52 1.08 0.52

Diluted earnings per share  0.82  0.91  0.51 1.08 0.52

Dividends declared and paid  1,173  1,504  1,738 2,098 2,328

Average Exchange Rate (USD$=CAD$) 1.145 1.030  0.989 1.0005 1.029

Book value per share 6.57 7.45  7.89 8.54 9.17

Quarterly Information

2012 2013
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Sales 65,654 65,486 63,703 62,533 63,672 59,072 57,393 62,804

Earnings from operations 3,757 4,663 4,215 5,545 3,359 1,599 1,921 4,157

EBITDA 5,770 6,099 5,999 6,484 5,442 3,254 3,380 4,848

Net earnings 2,518 2,811 2,552 4,730 1,907 510 792 2,895

Total assets 154,596 148,646 151,017 160,049 170,729 170,131 169,261 186,878

Total liabilities 59,537 52,218 53,177 58,404 65,830 64,359 65,364 77,827

Total cash (debt) (19,338) (11,369) (9,255) (990) (18,934) (20,552) (19,823) (21,104)

Cash (used) provided by operations (3,330) 10,476 3,763 10,461 (1,011) 1,429 3,439 (3,092)

Basic earnings per share 0.22 0.24 0.21 0.41 0.16 0.04 0.07 0.25

Diluted earnings per share 0.22 0.24 0.21 0.41 0.16 0.04 0.07 0.25

Dividends declared and paid – 1,049 – 1,049 582 582 582 582

Average Exchange Rate (USD$=CAD$) 1.002 1.009 1.000 0.9913 1.0065 1.014 1.038 1.048

Book value per share 8.05 8.12 8.24 8.54 8.82 8.91 8.75 9.17
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2013 Management Report and Independent Auditors’ Report

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hammond Power Solutions Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
position as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Hammond Power Solutions 
Inc.  as at December 31, 2013  and December 31, 2012, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

   Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
March 28, 2014
Waterloo, Canada

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements are the responsibility of the management of Hammond Power Solutions Inc. These statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), using management’s best estimates and judgments where appropriate.

 Management is responsible for the reliability and integrity of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and 
other financial information contained in the report. In the preparation of these statements, estimates were sometimes necessary because a precise determination 
of certain assets and liabilities is dependent on future events. Management believes such estimates have been based on careful judgment and have been properly 
reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. Management is responsible for the maintenance of a system of internal controls designed to 
provide reasonable assurances that the assets are safeguarded and that accounting systems provide timely, accurate and reliable financial information.

 The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities through the Audit Committee of the Board, which is composed 
of all of the directors, of whom six are non-management directors. The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the auditors to satisfy itself 
that management’s responsibilities are properly discharged, to review the Consolidated Financial Statements and to recommend approval of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements to the Board of Directors.

 KPMG LLP, the independent auditors appointed by the shareholders, has audited the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and their report follows. The independent auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee to 
discuss their audit and related findings as to the integrity of the financial reporting process.

 

William G. Hammond
Chairman of the Board 
& Chief Executive Offi cer  

March 28, 2014

Christopher R. Huether
Corporate Secretary 
& Chief Financial Officer

To the Shareholders of Hammond Power Solutions Inc.34

C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S



Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(in thousands of dollars) December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,224 $ 13,720

Accounts receivable (note 4) 49,302 41,607

Inventories (note 5) 39,327 35,172

Income taxes recoverable 2,887 720

Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,619 1,300

Total current assets $ 105,359 $ 92,519

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (note 6) 47,264 40,029

Investment in properties (note 7) 1,044 1,044

Deferred tax assets (note 13) 363 463

Goodwill (notes 8 and 9) 17,557 13,643

Intangible assets (note 8) 15,291 12,351

Total non-current assets 81,519     67,530

Total assets $ 186,878 $ 160,049

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Bank operating lines of credit (note 10) $ 27,183 $ 12,568

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 39,216 37,690

Income tax liabilities 25 1,327

Provisions (note 18) 307                         422

Derivative liabilities (note 23) 19 47

Current portion of long-term debt (note 11) 857 926

Total current liabilities $ 67,607 $ 52,980

Non-current liabilities

Employee future benefi ts (note 17) 204 312

Provisions (note 18) 100 100

Long-term debt (note 11) 4,288 1,216

Deferred tax liabilities (note 13) 5,628 3,796

Total non-current liabilities 10,220 5,424

Total liabilities $ 77,827 $ 58,404

Shareholders’ Equity

Share capital (note 14) 13,611 13,295

Contributed surplus 2,133 1,887

Accumulated other comprehensive income (524) (3,771)

Retained earnings 91,794    87,976

Total shareholders’ equity attributable to equity holders 
   of the Company $ 107,014 $ 99,387
Non-controlling interests 2,037 2,258

Total shareholder’s equity 109,051 101,645

Commitments and contingencies (note 12)
Subsequent events (note 27)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 186,878 $ 160,049

William G. Hammond
Chairman of the Board 
& Chief Executive Offi cer

David J. FitzGibbon
Chairman Audit Committee

On behalf of the Board:

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

As at
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands of dollars, except share amounts)

2013 2012

Sales $ 242,941 $ 257,376

Cost of sales (note 5) 182,340 192,588

Gross margin 60,601 64,788

Selling and distribution 27,156 25,894

General and administrative 22,409 20,714

Earnings from operations 11,036 18,180

Finance and other costs (income):

Interest expense (note 11) 860 695

Foreign exchange loss (gain) 80 (775)

Realized and unrealized gains on copper forward contracts – (301)

Other 129 63

Net fi nance and other costs (income) 1,069 (318)

Earnings before income taxes 9,967 18,498

Income tax expense (note 13):

 Current 3,507 5,886

Deferred 356 1

3,863 5,887

Net earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611

Net earnings (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 21 (10)

Net earnings attributable to the equity holders of the Company 6,083 12,621

Net earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611

Earnings per share (note 15)

Basic earnings per share (dollars) $ 0.52 $ 1.08

Diluted earnings per share (dollars) $ 0.52 $ 1.08

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands of dollars)

2013 2012

Net earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611

Other comprehensive income

Item that will be recycled into profi t and loss:

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 3,005 (2,978)

Items that will not be recycled into profi t and loss:

Defi ned benefi t plan actuarial gain (loss) 101 (58)

Income tax recovery (expense) on comprehensive income (38) 21

63 (37)

Other comprehensive income (loss)  for the period, net of income tax 3,068 (3,015)

Total comprehensive income for the period $ 9,172 $ 9,596

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders of the Company 9,393 9,748

Total comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest (221) (152)

$ 9,172 $ 9,596

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands of dollars)

SHARE
CAPITAL

CONTRIBUTED
SURPLUS

AOCI** RETAINED
EARNINGS

NON-
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST

TOTAL
SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY

Balance, as at January 1, 2012 $      12,987 $       1,525  $     (935) $      77,871 $               – $     91,448

Total comprehensive income for the year

Net earnings (loss) – – – 12,621 (10) 12,611

Other comprehensive income 

Foreign currency translation differences – – (2,836) – (142) (2,978)

Defi ned benefi t plan actuarial losses net 

of tax      – – – (37) – (37)

Total other comprehensive income – – (2,836) (37) (142) (3,015)

Total comprehensive income for the period – – (2,836) 12,584 (152) 9,596

Transactions with owners, 

recorded directly in equity

Dividends to equity holders (note 14) – – – (2,098) – (2,098)

Own shares acquired (note 14) (74) (10) – (381) – (465)

Share-based payment transactions (note 14) – 491 – – – 491

Share options exercised (note 14) 382 (119) – – 263

     Acquisition of subsidiary with

     non-controlling interests (note 25) – – – – 2,410 2,410 

Total transactions with owners 308 362 – (2,479) 2,410 601

Balance at December 31, 2012 $      13,295 $       1,887 $       (3,771) $    87,976 2,258 $     101,645

Total comprehensive income 

for the period

Net Earnings – – – 6,083 21 6,104

Other comprehensive income 

Foreign currency translation differences – – 3,247 – (242) 3,005

Defi ned benefi t plan actuarial gain, 
net of tax

– – – 63 – 63

Total other comprehensive income – – 3,247 63 (242) 3,068

Total comprehensive income for the period – – 3,247 6,146 (221) 9,172

Transactions with owners, recorded directly 
in equity

Dividends to equity holders (note 14) – – – (2,328) – (2,328)

Share-based payment transactions (note 14) – 358 – – 358

Stock options exercised (note 14) 316 (112) – – – 204

Total transactions with owners 316 246 – (2,328) – (1,766)

Balance at December 31, 2013 $      13,611 $       2,133 $       (524) $      91,794 2,037 $    109,051

**AOCI – Accumulated other comprehensive income
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands of dollars)

2013 2012

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Net earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611

Adjustments for:

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 4,889 4,240

Amortization of intangible assets 1,208 919

Provisions (182) (82)

Interest expense 860 695

Income tax expense 3,863 5,887

Change in unrealized gain  on derivatives (28) (997)

Accrued pension benefi t obligation (108) 3

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 7

Stock based compensation expense 358 491

16,964 23,774

Change in non-cash working capital (note 21) (8,790) 2,152

Cash generated from operating activities 8,174 25,926

Income tax paid (7,409) (4,555)

Net cash provided from operating activities 765 21,371

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary company, net of cash acquired (note 25) (9,394) (15,410)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3,687) (4,047)

Acquisition of intangible assets (1,472) (893)

Cash used in investing activities (14,553) (20,350)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital 204 263

Share repurchase and cancellation – (465)

Cash dividends paid (2,328) (2,098)

Advances from bank operating lines of credit 14,615 10,487

Advances of long-term debt – 55

Repayment of long-term debt (880) (2,608)

Interest paid (860) (695)

Cash generated by fi nancing activities 10,751 4,939

Foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents held in a foreign currency 541 (54)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,496) 5,906

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 13,720 7,814

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 11,224 $ 13,720

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. Reporting entity

Hammond Power Solutions Inc. (“HPS” or “the Company”) is a corporation domiciled in Canada. The address of the Company’s registered offi ce is 
595 Southgate Drive, Guelph, Ontario. The Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and trade under 
the symbol HPS.A. 
 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Company comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and 
individually as “Group entities”). The Group primarily is involved in the design and manufacture of custom electrical magnetics, cast resin, custom 
liquid fi lled distribution and power transformers and standard electrical transformers, serving the electrical and electronic industries. The Company 
has manufacturing plants in Canada, United States (“U.S.”), Mexico, Italy and India, the latter being PETE Hammond Power Solutions Private 
Limited (“PETE”), a 70% equity ownership subsidiary acquired during 2012. During the year, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Euroelettro 
Hammond S.p.A (“EH”), acquired 100% of the outstanding share capital of Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l. (“Marnate”), located In Italy.  
 At December 31, 2013, EH and Marnate merged to form one entity, HPS s.r.l..   

2. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and were 
approved by the Board of Directors on March 28, 2014.

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative fi nancial instruments and share based 
payments which are measured at fair value, and the employee benefi ts liability, which is recognized as the net total of the plan assets and the 
present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the Group’s entities is the currency of their primary economic environment.
 In individual companies, transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities in foreign currencies at the reporting date are re-measured to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Any resulting 
exchange differences are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
 On consolidation, assets and liabilities of Group entities reported in their functional currencies are translated into the Canadian dollar, being 
the presentation currency, at the exchange rate on the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Canadian 
dollars using average exchange rates for the month during which the transactions occurred. Foreign currency differences are recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the cumulative translation account within accumulated other comprehensive income.
 The functional currency of the Company’s Canadian operations and its subsidiaries are as follows:

Canadian & Subsidiary Operations Functional Currency

Canada Canadian dollar ($)

United States U.S. dollar ($ USD)

Mexico Mexican Peso (Pesos)

Italy Euro (EU €)

India Rupee (INR)

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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(d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.
 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 (i)  Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 
 The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that Management has made in the process of applying the 
 Group’s accounting policies and that have the most signifi cant effects on the amounts recognized in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Cash generating units
As indicated in note 3(h), the Group conducts its impairment tests at the cash generating unit (CGU) level. The Group defi nes its CGUs based on 
the way it monitors and derives economic benefi ts from the acquired goodwill and intangibles. A cash-generating unit is the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash infl ows that are largely independent of the cash infl ows from other assets or groups of assets. The identifi cation of a 
cash-generating unit involves judgment. If the recoverable amount cannot be determined for an individual asset, the Group identifi es the lowest 
aggregation of assets that generate largely independent cash infl ows.

Operating segments
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses,  
whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated 
to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete fi nancial information is available. The determination of operating segments 
involves judgment. Management has determined that the Group operates as a single operating segment, being the design, manufacture and sale 
of transformers.

Identifi cation of acquired assets and liabilities
IFRS 3, Business Combinations, requires acquirers to recognize, separately from goodwill, the identifi able assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  
The identifi cation of acquired assets and liabilities involves judgment. 

(ii)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the consolidated fi nancial statements within the next twelve months.

Goodwill 
The Group tests annually or more frequently if necessary, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy 
provided in note 3(h). Performing goodwill impairment testing requires management to determine the estimated recoverable amount of the relevant 
cash-generating units on the basis of projected future cash fl ows using internal business plans or forecasts, and discounting these cash fl ows to 
appropriately refl ect the time value of money. While management believes that estimates of future cash fl ows and discount rates are reasonable, 
different assumptions regarding future cash fl ows or discount rates could materially affect the outcome of the goodwill impairment test. For 
assumptions relating to goodwill impairment testing, refer to note 9.

Determination of fair value of acquired long-lived assets, intangible assets, and assumed liabilities
IFRS 3, Business Combinations, requires acquirers to recognize the identifi able assets acquired and liabilities assumed at fair value.  The determination 
of fair value requires Management to make estimates around the value an independent third party, under no compulsion to act, would pay for an 
asset acquired or liability assumed on a standalone basis. Where possible, Management engages third-party appraisers to assist in the determination 
of the fair value of real property acquired. The fair value of acquired intangible assets is generally determined using discounted cash fl ow models 
and involve the use of cash fl ow forecasts, market-based discount rates, and/or market-based royalty rates. The fair value of liabilities assumed is 
generally based on discounted cash fl ow models which involve the use of market-based discount rates.
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies:

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated fi nancial statements and by all 
Group entities.

(a) Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated fi nancial statements include the accounts of Hammond Power Solutions Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Hammond Power 
Solutions, Inc., Hammond Power Solutions, S.A. de C.V., Delta Transformers Inc, Continental Transformers s.r.l., and its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
HPS s.r.l. and a 70% owned subsidiary Pete Hammond Power Solutions Private Limited (previouly known as Pan-Electro Technic Enterprises Private 
Limited). HPS s.r.l. includes the results of Marnate for the period February 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013. The comparative fi nancial statements 
also include the Company’s 70% equity ownership of Pan-Electro Technic Enterprises Private Limited for the period from March 1, 2012 to 
December 31, 2012. In addition, the consolidated fi nancial statements include the Company’s assets, liabilities and share of revenues and 
expenditures in its joint operation, Glen Ewing Properties. 
 All signifi cant inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated.
 Joint operations arise from an arrangement in which the interested parties are bound by a contract which gives two or more parties joint control 
of the arrangement, and those parties have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The Company has a 
50% interest in Glen Ewing Properties, an unincorporated co-tenancy. The consolidated fi nancial statements include the Group’s share of the entity’s 
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses with items of a similar nature on a line-by-line basis.
 Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identifi ed separately from the Group’s equity therein. Non-controlling 
interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the non-controlling interest’s share of changes 
in equity since the date of the combination. 

(b) Financial instruments
The Group aggregates its fi nancial instruments into classes based on their nature and characteristics. The Group has classifi ed its fi nancial instruments 
as follows:

• Cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable are classifi ed as loans and receivables

• Bank operating lines of credit, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt are classifi ed as other liabilities

• Derivative fi nancial instruments are classifi ed as fair value through profi t or loss

(c) Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities
Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, unless the transaction 
costs relate to fi nancial instruments classifi ed as fair value through profi t and loss, in which case they are expensed immediately. Subsequent 
measurement is determined based on initial classifi cation. 
 The Group uses trade date accounting for regular-way purchases and sales of fi nancial assets.

(i) Loans and receivables 
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. This 

category includes cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. 
  Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less 

appropriate allowances for doubtful receivables.
  Allowances for doubtful receivables represent the Group’s estimates of losses that could arise from the failure or inability of customers 

to make payments when due and is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the account receivable and the present 
value of the associated future cash fl ows. Where it becomes apparent that the account receivable will not be collected the allowance for 
doubtful receivables is released and the account receivable written off.

(ii) Other liabilities
 This category includes bank operating lines of credit, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt. Subsequent to initial 

measurement, other liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

(iii) Fair value through profi t or loss 
 A fi nancial instrument is classifi ed as fair value through profi t or loss if it is classifi ed as held for trading or is designated as such on initial 

recognition. This category includes derivative fi nancial instruments. 
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(iv) Derivative fi nancial instruments
 From time to time, the Group is party to derivative fi nancial instruments in the form of forward foreign exchange contracts used to hedge 

foreign currency exposure arising on an intercompany loan and forward copper purchase contracts used to manage commodity price 
exposures. The Group records all of its forward contracts at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized through fi nance costs in the 
consolidated statement of earnings. 

 

(v) Fair value
 The fair value of a fi nancial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between 

knowledgeable willing parties that are under no compulsion to act. The fair value of a fi nancial instrument on initial recognition is the 
transaction price, which is the fair value of the consideration given or received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair values of fi nancial 
instruments that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for fi nancial assets held and offer prices for fi nancial liabilities. When 
independent prices are not available, fair values are determined by using valuation techniques that refer to observable market data.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short-term deposits with maturities of three months or less.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are shown in the statement of fi nancial position at their historical cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring 
the site on which they are located, and borrowing costs on qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalization is on or after 
January 1, 2010. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.
 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of property, plant and equipment.
 Depreciation is provided on components that have homogenous useful lives by using the straight-line method so as to depreciate the initial cost 
down to the residual value over the estimated useful lives. 
 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

• Buildings 14-30 years

• Leaseholds lesser of 5 years and lease term

• Machinery and equipment 4-10 years

• Offi ce equipment 4-10 years

• Land is not depreciated
 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each fi nancial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
 Assets included in construction-in-process are not depreciated until the assets are available for use. Idle assets that are available for use 
are depreciated.

(f) Intangible assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets that are acquired either separately or in a business combination are recognized when they are identifi able and can be reliably 
measured. Intangible assets are considered to be identifi able if they arise from contractual or other rights, or if they are separable (i.e. they can be 
disposed of either individually or together with other assets). Intangible assets comprise fi nite life intangible assets. 
 Finite life intangible assets are those for which there is an expectation of obsolescence that limits their useful economic life or where the useful 
life is limited by contractual or other terms. They are amortized over the shorter of their contractual or useful economical lives. 
 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

• Customer lists and relationships 15 years

• Technology 20 years 

• Software and other 4 years

• Branding 5 years
 Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each fi nancial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
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(g) Research and development expenses
Research expenses are recognized as expenses in the fi nancial period incurred.
 Development expenses are recognized as an intangible asset if the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of making the intangible 
asset ready for commissioning or sale; its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; its ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
how the intangible asset will generate future economic benefi ts; the availability of the appropriate resources (technical, fi nancial or other) to 
complete development and use or sell the intangible asset; and its ability to provide a reliable estimate of expenses attributable to the intangible 
asset during its development. 

(h) Goodwill
Acquisitions occurring on or after January 1, 2010, are accounted for using the acquisition method required by IFRS 3. Goodwill is the residual 
amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the amount allocated to the identifi able assets acquired, 
less liabilities assumed, based on their fair values. Goodwill is allocated as of the date of the business combination to the Company’s cash generating 
units that are expected to benefi t from the synergies of the business combination.
 The Company elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interest at its fair value, or at its proportionate 
share of the recognized amount of the identifi able net assets, at the acquisition date.
 Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually and upon the occurrence of an indication of impairment.
 The impairment tests are performed at the cash generating unit (CGU) level. The Group defi nes its CGUs based on the way it monitors and 
derives economic benefi ts from the acquired goodwill and intangibles. The impairment tests are performed by comparing the carrying value of the 
assets of these CGUs with the greater of its value in use and its fair value, less costs to sell. The value in use is based on their future projected cash 
fl ows discounted to the present value at an appropriate pre-tax discount rate. The cash fl ows correspond to estimates made by Group Management 
in fi nancial and strategic business plans covering a period of fi ve years. They are then projected beyond fi ve years using a steady or declining growth 
rate given that the Group businesses are of a long-term nature. The Group assesses the uncertainty of these estimates by making sensitivity analyses. 
The discount rate used approximates the Company’s weighted average cost of capital. The business risk is included in the determination of the cash 
fl ows. Both the cash fl ows and the discount rates exclude infl ation.
 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is never subsequently reversed. The Group completed its annual impairment tests at 
December 31, 2013.  

(i) Investment property
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of 
business use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. The Group measures its investment property, being the 
property held by Glen Ewing Properties, at historical cost.   

(j) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
 The cost of inventories is based on the fi rst-in fi rst-out principle, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or 
conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work 
in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 
 Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
 When circumstances which previously caused inventories to be written down to their net realizable value no longer exist, the previous impairment 
is reversed.

(k) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and fi nite life intangible assets
The Group periodically reviews the useful lives and the carrying values of its long-lived assets for continued appropriateness. Consideration is given 
at each Statement of Financial Position date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment of the carrying amounts of the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment and fi nite life intangible assets. The Group reviews for impairment of long-lived assets, or asset groups, held and used 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. 
 The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
fl ows are discounted to their present value, based on the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the country where the assets are located. 
Assets that suffer impairment are assessed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.  
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(l) Share-based payment transactions
The Group has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in note 14. The Group accounts for all stock-based payments using the fair 
value based method.
 Under the fair value based method, compensation cost for stock options and direct awards of stock is measured at fair value at the grant 
date. Compensation cost is recognized in earnings on a straight-line basis over the relevant vesting period, with a corresponding amount recorded 
in contributed surplus. The amount recognized as an expense, is adjusted to refl ect the number of awards for which the related services are 
expected to be met. Upon exercise of a stock option, share capital is recorded at the sum of the proceeds received and the related amount of 
contributed surplus.

(m) Provisions
Provisions comprise liabilities of uncertain timing or amounts that arise from restructuring plans, environmental, litigation, commercial or other risks. 
Provisions are recognized when there exists a legal or constructive obligation stemming from a past event and when the future cash outfl ows can 
be reliably estimated.  A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based on historical 
warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

(n) Revenue
The Group recognizes revenue when products are shipped and the customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss, collection of the relevant 
receivable is probable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and the sales price is fi xed or determinable. 

(o) Income taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Deferred 
tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for fi nancial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profi ts will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefi t will be realized.

(p) Employee benefi ts
The Company maintains a defi ned contribution and defi ned benefi t plan, which are described in note 17 and has short-term employee benefi ts. 
 A defi ned contribution plan is a post-employment benefi t plan under which an entity pays fi xed contributions into a separate entity and will have 
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defi ned contribution pension plans, are recognized as an 
employee benefi t expense in profi t or loss in the periods in which services are rendered by employees. 
 A defi ned benefi t plan is a post-employment benefi t plan other than a defi ned contribution plan. The Company’s net obligation in respect of its 
defi ned benefi t plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefi t that employees have earned in return for their service in the current 
and prior periods; that benefi t is discounted to determine its present value. The fair value of the plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the 
yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations. The calculation 
is performed annually by a qualifi ed actuary using the projected unit credit method. 
 When the benefi ts of the plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefi t relating to past service by employees is recognized in profi t or 
loss immediately.
 The Company recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from the defi ned benefi t plan immediately in other comprehensive income, and 
reports them in retained earnings.
 Short term employee benefi t obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability 
is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profi t-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(q) Finance income and fi nance costs
Finance income and fi nance costs comprise interest income, interest expense on borrowings, changes in fair value of fi nancial instruments measured 
at fair value through profi t and loss, foreign currency losses and other fi nance costs. 
 Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.
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(r) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net earnings of 
the Group by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS are computed similar to basic 
EPS except that the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares from the assumed exercise of stock options, 
if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options were exercised and that proceeds from such 
exercises along with any unamortized stock-based compensation were used to acquire common shares at the average market price during the year.

(s) New accounting pronouncements adopted during the period

 Fair value measurement
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”). This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013 and provides additional guidance where IFRS requires fair value to be used. IFRS 13 defi nes fair value, sets out in a single 
standard a framework for measuring fair value and establishes the required disclosures about fair value measurements. The Group adopted 
IFRS 13 prospectively in its fi nancial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The adoption of IFRS 13 did not have a material 
impact on the fi nancial statements.
 

 Amendments to IFRS 7, offsetting fi nancial assets and liabilities
In December 2011 the IASB published Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities and issued new disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures.
 The effective date for the amendments to IFRS 7 is annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 The amendments to IFRS 7 contain new disclosure requirements for fi nancial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of fi nancial 
position; or subject to master netting arrangements or similar arrangements.
 The Group adopted IFRS 7 prospectively in its fi nancial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The adoption of IFRS 7 
did not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements. 

 Presentation of other comprehensive income (“OCI”)
In June 2011, the IASB issued an amended version of IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”). This amendment is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012 and requires companies preparing fi nancial statements in accordance with IFRS to group together items 
within OCI that may be reclassifi ed to the profi t or loss section of the statement of earnings. Revised IAS 1 also reaffi rms existing requirements that 
items in OCI and profi t or loss should be presented as either a single statement or two consecutive statements. The Group adopted the amendments 
in its fi nancial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. As the amendments only required changes in the presentation of 
items in other comprehensive income, the adoption of IAS 1 did not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements.

 Annual improvements to IFRS 2009-2011 cycle – various standards
The new cycle of improvements contains amendments to the following standards (excluding IFRS 1) with consequential amendments to other 
standards and interpretations:

• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

 •  Comparative information beyond minimum requirements

 •  Presentation of the opening statement of fi nancial position

• IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

 •  Classifi cation of servicing equipment

• IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

 •  Income tax consequences of distributions

• IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

 •  Segment assets and liabilities
The Group adopted the amendments to the standards in its fi nancial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The adoption 
of the amendments to the standards did not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements.
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 Consolidated fi nancial statements
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”). This standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013 and establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated fi nancial statements when an entity 
controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 defi nes the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are 
consolidated in the consolidated fi nancial statements. The adoption of IFRS 10 did not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements.

 Disclosure of interests in other entities
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”). This standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013 and applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated 
structured entity. IFRS 12 integrates and makes consistent the disclosure requirements for a reporting entity’s interest in other entities and presents 
those requirements in a single standard. The adoption of IFRS 12 did not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements. 

 Joint arrangements
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”). This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013 and establishes principles for fi nancial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement. IFRS 11 requires a party to assess the rights and 
obligations arising from an arrangement in determining whether an arrangement is either a joint venture or a joint operation. Joint ventures are to 
be accounted for using the equity method while joint operations will continue to be accounted for using proportionate consolidation. 
 The adoption of IFRS 11 did not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements.

 IAS 19R - Post-employment defi ned benefi t plans
As a result of IAS 19 (2011), the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect to the basis for determining the income or expense related 
to its post-employment defi ned benefi t plans.
 Under IAS 19 (2011), the Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defi ned benefi t liability (asset) for the period by 
applying the discount rate used to measure the defi ned benefi t obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defi ned benefi t 
liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defi ned benefi t liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefi t 
payments. Consequently, the net interest on the net defi ned benefi t liability (asset) now comprises:
Interest cost on the defi ned benefi t obligation and interest income on plan assets. Previously, the Group determined interest income on plan assets 
based on their long-term rate of expected return. The difference between the actual return on plan assets and the discount rate is recognized 
through other comprehensive income.
 Additionally under IAS 19 (2011), the Group recognizes past service costs immediately in profi t or loss and plan administration costs are 
recognized as an expense and not as a reduction of the return on plan assets.
 The adoption of IFRS 19 (2011) did not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements.

(t) New accounting pronouncements

The International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following Standards, Interpretations and amendments to Standards that are not yet   
 effective and while considered relevant to the Group have not yet been adopted by the Group.

 Financial instruments
In October 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”). This standard is part of 
a wider project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 replaces the current multiple classifi cation and 
measurement models for fi nancial assets and liabilities with a single model that has only two classifi cation categories: amortized cost and fair 
value. The basis of classifi cation depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash fl ow characteristics of the fi nancial asset or 
liability. In 2013 the IASB issued under IFRS 9 a more principles based general hedging model that aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk 
management. The IASB currently has an active project to make limited amendments to the classifi cation and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 
that proposes to introduce another measurement category, fair value through comprehensive income, for fi nancial assets that are held for both the 
collection of cash fl ows and for sale and add new requirements to address the impairment of fi nancial assets and macro hedge accounting.  The 
mandatory effective date is not yet determined; however, early adoption is still permitted. When an entity adopts IFRS 9, it will have an accounting 
policy change to defer application of the general hedge accounting model until the standard from the IASB’s project on macro hedge accounting Is 
effective. The Group does not intend to adopt IFRS 9 in its fi nancial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2014. The classifi cation 
and measurement of the Group’s fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities is not expected to change under IFRS 9 because of the nature of the Group’s 
operations and the types of fi nancial assets and liabilities that it holds. 
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 Offsetting fi nancial assets and liabilities 
The amendments to IAS 32 which are effective for years commencing on or after January 1, 2014, clarify the guidance as to when an entity has a 
legally enforceable right to set off fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities, and, clarify when a settlement mechanism provides for net settlement.  
The Group intends to adopt the amendments to IAS 32 in its consolidated fi nancial statements for the year commencing January 1, 2014. The Group 
does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

Defi ned benefi t plans: employee contributions
In November 2013, the IASB issued amendments to pension accounting under IAS 19, Employee Benefi ts. This amendment will reduce the complexity 
of accounting for certain contributions from employees or third parties.  When employee contributions are eligible, a Company is permitted to 
recognize them as a reduction of the service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered. The Group intends to adopt the amendments 
to IAS 19 in its consolidated fi nancial statements for the year commencing January 1, 2014. The Group does not expect the amendments to have a 
material impact on the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

Recoverable amounts 
IAS 36 was amended in May 2013 to change the disclosure required when an impairment loss is recognized or reversed. The amendments require 
the disclosure of the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit at the time an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed 
and detailed disclosure of how the associated fair value less costs of disposal has been determined.  The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 with earlier adoption permitted.  The Group is presently evaluating the impact of adopting this 
additional disclosure. 

IFRIC 21, levies
The IFRIC interpretation provides guidance on accounting for levies in accordance with the requirements of IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets. 
 The interpretation defi nes a levy as an outfl ow from an entity imposed by a government in accordance with legislation. It also notes that levies 
do not arise from executory contracts or other contractual arrangements. 
 The interpretation also confi rms that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy only when the triggering event specifi ed in the legislation occurs. 
The Group intends to adopt IFRIC 21 in its fi nancial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 2014. The extent of the impact of 
adoption of the amendments has not yet been determined.

Annual improvements to IFRS (2010 – 2012) and (2011-2013) cycles
In December 2013, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to a total of nine standards as part of its annual improvements process. The IASB 
uses the annual improvements process to make non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRS. Most amendments will apply prospectively for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014; earlier application is permitted, in which case, the related consequential amendments to other 
IFRSs would also apply. 
 Amendments were made to clarify the following in their respective standards:
• IFRS version that a fi rst-time adopter can apply in IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• Defi nition of “vesting condition” in IFRS 2 Share-based payment;
• Classifi cation and measurement of contingent consideration and scope exclusion for the formation of joint arrangements in IFRS 3 
 Business Combinations;
• Disclosures on the aggregation of operating segments in IFRS 8 Operating segments;
• Measurement of short-term receivables and payables; and scope of portfolio exception in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;
• Restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortization) on revaluation in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets.
 The Group intends to adopt these amendments in its fi nancial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2014. The extent of the 
impact of adoption of the amendments has not yet been determined.

4. Accounts receivable:   

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Trade accounts receivable  $  45,395  $  38,749

Other receivables        3,907        2,858

 $ 49,302  $ 41,607

Trade accounts receivable is presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $961,000 (December 31, 2012 - $975,000).
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5. Inventories:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Raw materials $   17,284 $   16,622

Work in progress  4,252  2,809

Finished goods  17,791  15,741

$   39,327 $   35,172

Raw materials and changes in fi nished goods and work in progress recognized as cost of sales during the year amounted to $182,359,000 
(2012 – $192,626,000). In addition, during the year, a reversal of previous write-downs in the amount of $19,000 was recognized 
(2012 – reversal of $38,000). Inventories carried at fair value less cost to sell included above as at December 31, 2013 were $1,008,000 
(December 31, 2012 - $1,226,000).

6. Property, plant and equipment:

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 5,398 $ 20,563 $ 835 $ 36,386 $ 7,735 $ 104 $ 71,021

Additions 22 56 22 2,825 688 434 4,047

Additions through business combination 556 714 – 1,786 176 – 3,232

Disposals – (10) – (204) – – (214)

Effect of movements in exchange rates (72) (133) 18 (556) (49) – (792)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 5,904 $ 21,190 $ 875 $ 40,237 $ 8,550 $ 538 $ 77,294

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 5,904 $ 21,190 $ 875 $ 40,237 $ 8,550 $ 538 $ 77,294

Additions     – 184 84 2,872 325 222 3,687

Additions through business combination 536 4,995 – 1,112 70 – 6,713

Effect of movements in exchange rates 221 921 61 1,202 80 – 2,485

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 6,661 $ 27,290 $ 1,020 $ 45,423 $ 9,025 $ 760 $ 90,179

Depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ – $ 5,320 $ 639 $ 21,247 $ 6,286 $ – $ 33,492

Depreciation for the year – 959 103 2,638 540 – 4,240

Disposals – (10) – (197) – – (207)

Effect of movements in exchange rates – (32) 13 (208) (33) – (260)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $  – $  6,237 $ 755 $ 23,480 $ 6,793 $  – $ 37,265

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ – $ 6,237 $ 755 $ 23,480 $ 6,793 $ – $ 37,265

Depreciation for the year – 1,264 74 3,046 505 – 4,889

Effect of movements in exchange rates – 55 52 591 63 – 761

Balance at December 31, 2013 $  – $  7,556 $ 881 $ 27,117 $ 7,361 $  – $ 42,915

Carrying amounts

At December 31, 2012 $ 5,904 $ 14,953 $ 120 $ 16,757 $ 1,757 $ 538 $ 40,029

At December 31, 2013 $ 6,661 $ 19,734 $ 139 $ 18,306 $ 1,664 $ 760 $ 47,264

Depreciation is recorded in the statement of earnings as follows: cost of sales $4,537,000 (2012 – $3,866,000), selling and distribution $4,000 
(2012 – $nil), and general and administrative $348,000 (2012 – $358,000). In 2011, in connection with the acquisition of Euroelettro Hammond 
(“EH”), the Group assumed land and building under capital lease having a fair value of $5,452,000. During 2012, this land and building was 
purchased and the lease was terminated. Depreciation related to this asset under capital lease for 2012 was $16,000 and was recorded in the 
statement of earnings in cost of sales.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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7. Investment in properties
The Group has a 50% ownership interest in a property in Georgetown, Ontario (referred to as the Glen Ewing Properties). It is a vacant plot of land 
currently under environmental remediation, and no revenue was derived from it in 2013 or 2012. The property is carried at cost. The fair value of the 
property as at December 31, 2013 is $1,250,000 (2012 – $1,250,000). The fair value was compiled internally by Management based on available 
market evidence. The Company’s share of ongoing legal, consulting and remediation costs during the year was $159,000 (2012 – $121,000).
 

8. Intangible assets and goodwill

Intangible assets

 Technology

Customer lists 
relationships
and branding

Externally
acquired
software Total

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 1,398 $  5,923 $ 2,737 $  10,058

Acquisitions – – 134 134

Additions through business combination 3,133 2,217 – 5,350

Additions to development in process – – 759 759

Effect of movements in exchange rates (362) (250) 1 (611)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 4,169 $ 7,890 $ 3,631 $ 15,690

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 4,169 $  7,890 $ 3,631 $  15,690

Additions – – 1,425 1,425

Additions through business combination 1,756 713 – 2,469

Additions to development in process – – 47 47

Effect of movements in exchange rates 180 41 123 344

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 6,105 $ 8,644 $ 5,226 $ 19,975

Amortization

Balance at January 1, 2012 $ 58 $ 1,437 $ 1,022 $ 2,517

Amortization for the year 188 507 224 919

Effect of movements in exchange rates (3) (3) (91) (97)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 243 $ 1,941 $ 1,155 $  3,339

Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 243 $ 1,941 $ 1,155 $ 3,339

Amortization for the year 290 621 297 1,208

Effect of movements in exchange rates 16 10 111 137

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 549 $ 2,572 $ 1,163 $  4,684

Carrying amounts

At December 31, 2012 $ 3,926 $ 5,949 $ 2,476 $ 12,351

At December 31, 2013 $ 5,556 $ 6,072 $ 3,663 $ 15,291

    
Amortization of $152,000 (2012 – $64,000) has been recognized in cost of sales, $193,000 (2012 – $157,000) has been recognized in selling and 
distribution and $863,000 (2012 – $698,000) has been recognized in general and administrative.
 None of the intangible assets have been internally developed.
 Research and development expenses of $618,000 (2012 – $549,000) have been recognized in cost of sales. No research and development costs 
have been capitalized (2012 – $nil).

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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Goodwill December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Opening balance $ 13,643 $ 4,564

Additions through business acquisition (note 25) 3,767 10,244

Effect of movements of exchange rates 147 (1,165)

Ending balance $ 17,557 $ 13,643

9. Impairment testing for cash-generating units

The Company has defi ned its cash generating units primarily as each manufacturing and contract manufacturing location, due to the fact that 
each location is managed separately and has its own dedicated human resources and property, plant and equipment. Each manufacturing facility 
produces products largely independent of the other facilities and is ultimately responsible for producing products that generate revenue.
 The Company monitors the performance of each manufacturing unit through the use of profi tability analysis based on the most recent business 
plan in place as of December 31, 2013. Where there were indicators of impairment, the Company performed an impairment test using the value in 
use method, under which a fi ve year present value cash fl ow projection was completed and discounted using the Company’s weighted average cost 
of capital of 10.78% (2012 - 12.33%). The cash fl ow model also incorporated annual growth rates in the range of 5% – 55% (2012 - 5% - 29%) 
depending on location, the CGU’s operating history and strategic sales growth initiatives. This was then compared to the carrying value of the CGU’s 
net assets to determine if there was impairment.   

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill
The Company has three subsidiaries identifi ed as cash generating units that contain goodwill. The cash generating units and their respective goodwill 
balances are as follows: Delta Transformers Inc. $2,180,000 (2012 – $2,180,000), Pan-Electro Technic Enterprises Private Limited $8,613,000 (2012 
– $9,094,000) and HPS s.r.l. $6,764,000 (2012 – $2,369,000). The goodwill of HPS s.r.l. consists of $2,646,000 related to EH and $4,118,000 
related to Marnate. As at December 31, 2013, the assets, including goodwill, of these cash generating units were tested and no impairment was 
found. The recoverable amount for these cash generating units was determined based on a value in use calculation. The calculations use cash fl ow 
projections based on budgets approved by the Board of Directors covering a fi ve year period and discounted using the weighted average cost 
of capital for each entity. Cash fl ows beyond the fi ve year period have been extrapolated using no growth rate. Management believes that any 
reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts are based would not cause the CGUs carrying amounts to 
exceed their recoverable amounts.

10. Bank operating lines of credit

The Company’s facility, which expires on March 22, 2017, consists of a $25,000,000 U.S. revolving credit facility, a $5,000,000 U.S. overdraft facility, 
a 4,000,000 Euro overdraft facility and a $10,000,000 U.S. delayed draw credit facility. The delayed draw facility does not charge any fees on the 
unutilized balance until the facility is used. The initial use of the facility needs to be approved by the bank.  The facilities are unsecured. Interest 
on the revolving credit lines is dependent on certain fi nancial ratios and ranges from Canadian bank prime rate minus 0.50% to Canadian bank 
prime rate for the Canadian dollar denominated revolving credit lines or, if designated, the bank’s CDOR rate plus 1.25% to 1.75% and from U.S. 
base rate minus 1.00% to U.S. base rate minus 1.50% for the U.S. dollar denominated revolving credit lines or, if designated, the bank’s LIBOR 
rate plus 1.25% to 1.75%. As at December 31, 2013, the Canadian dollar equivalent outstanding under the Canadian revolving credit line and 
the U.S. revolving credit line was $18,720,000 (2012 - $5,926,000) and $4,225,000 (2012 - $2,858,000) respectively as well as $3,470,000 
(2012 - $3,153,000) Canadian dollar equivalent of Euros outstanding under the Euro overdraft facility. The delayed draw credit facility was unutilized 
at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013. Under the terms of the facility, the Group pays an unused line fee at rates ranging from 0.25% to 
0.30% calculated monthly in arrears, on the average daily unborrowed portion of the Credit Facility.
 During 2012, PETE entered into a credit agreement for an unsecured working capital loan up to $4,800,000 U.S. consisting of the sub-facilities 
of an 80,000,000 INR short-term working capital demand loan and a 160,000,000 INR facility for bank guarantees and letters of credit.  The 
demand loan bears interest at a 9.25% base rate + 3% and the bank guarantees are at a rate of 1.50%. As at December 31, 2013, the Canadian 
dollar equivalent of Rupees drawn against the working capital demand loan is $768,000 (2012 - $695,000). There were no drawings against the 
bank guarantees or the letter of credit facilities.
 EH has available operating lines of Euro 935,000 ($1,370,000 Canadian dollar equivalent), which are secured by accounts receivable. 
At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 these operating lines were unutilized. 

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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11. Long-term debt

Term loans denominated in Euros, apart from the note payable for EU €2,650,000, are secured by a fi rst priority security interest in all existing and 
future property of Euroelettro Hammond S.p.a. The note payable for EU €2,650,000 is secured by the land and building of Marnate. Term loans 
denominated in INR are secured by a fi rst priority security interest in inventory, accounts receivable and specifi c equipment acquired through the 
acquisition of Pan-Electro Technic Enterprises Private Limited.
   

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Term loan repayable in monthly payments of $15,100, non-interest bearing, 
  unsecured maturing April 1, 2016

$  407 $        588

Term loan of EU €255,595 repayable in monthly payments of EU €8,140 plus interest at 
  Euro base rate plus 6 month Euribor rate (December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 - 
  4.97%), maturing June 1, 2015

224 335

Term loan of EU €714,838 repayable in quarterly payments of EU €8,140 plus interest at Euro 
  base rate plus 6 month Euribor rate (December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 – 1.97%), 
  maturing March 1, 2015

585 938

Term loan of EU €51,777 repayable in quarterly payments of EU €8,140 plus interest at Euro 
   base rate plus 3 month Euribor rate (December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 – 3.27%)

– 68

Term loans totalling INR 11,752,209, with monthly payments ranging from INR 24,100 to INR 
  195,000, bearing interest at 7% to 16.5%, maturing between July 1, 2014 and March 3, 2015

46 213

Note payable of EU €2,650,000, with monthly interest only payments of EU €10,000, bearing 
   interest at 4.5%, principal payment no later than February 2016.

3,883 –

5,145 2,142

Less current portion of long-term debt 857 926

Total $ 4,288 $        1,216

The aggregate amount of principal payments required to meet the existing long-term debt obligations in each of the next fi ve years is as follows:

2014 $  857

2015   360

2016   3,928

2017   –

2018     –

$  5,145

Interest expense is comprised as follows:  

2013  2012

Long-term debt       $  191       $  445

Short term interest, bank fees and other   669   250

      $  860       $  695

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

52



12. Commitments and contingencies

Commitments
The Company has entered into various non-cancellable operating leases. The future minimum lease payments for years subsequent to the periods below 
are as follows:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Less than 1 year $ 2,147 $ 1,806

2 to 5 years $ 2,567 $ 2,608

Operating lease payments recognized as an expense during the year were $1,640,000 (2012- $1,678,000).

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Capital expenditure commitments $   724 $  2,051

Contingent liability
In December, 2013, the Corporation received notice of an environmental claim from the owner of a property located nearby to a property that was once 
partially owned by the Corporation. At this time the Company feels that there is no merit to the claim.  

13. Income taxes

Income tax expense 2013  2012

Current tax expense

Current period $  3,507 $ 5,886

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 358 5

Reduction in tax rate (2) (4)

356 1

Total income tax expense $  3,863 $ 5,887

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

2013 2013 2012 2012

Net earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611

Income tax expense 3,863 5,887

Income before income taxes $ 9,967 $ 18,498

Income tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate 39.50% 3,937 39.50% 7,307

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (2.61%) (260) (4.28%) (791)

Reduction in tax rate 0.02% 2 0.02% 4

Non-deductible expenses/non-taxable income 2.78% 277 1.45% 267

Reduced rate for active business and manufacturing 
  and processing (5.36%) (534) (8.11%) (1,501)

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset 
  was recognized 4.96% 494 2.11% 390

(Over) under provided in prior periods (0.24%) (24) 1.04% 193

Other (0.29%) (29) 0.10% 18

38.76% $ 3,863 31.83% $ 5,887

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

H A M M O N D  P O W E R  S O L U T I O N S | A N N U A L  R E P O R T

53



Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities
At December 31, 2013 temporary differences of $49,784,000 (2012 - $43,433,000) related to investments in subsidiaries were not recognized 
because the Company controls whether the liability will be incurred and it is satisfi ed that it will not be incurred in the foreseeable future.

 Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items:
 
      2013  2012 

 Tax losses    $  2,317 $   1,103
 Financial interests deductible in a future period $    1,225  –
     $ 3,542 $ 1,103

The tax losses carry forward indefi nitely and relate to EH and Marnate.  The benefi t of these losses has not been refl ected in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements as it is uncertain as to whether the Company will be able to utilize these losses. 

 Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
              Assets                  Liabilities 

2013 2012 2013 2012

Property, plant and equipment $      191 $    167 $    (6,438) $    (3,867)

Intangible assets 15 2 (2,833) (2,208)

Scientifi c research & experimental development – – (59) (42)

Inventories 228 133 – –

Loans and borrowings 1,784 506 – –

Employee benefi ts 74 113 (142) (148)

Unrealized losses (gains) on forward contracts and 
  foreign-denominated loans payable/receivable 51 117 (175) (18)

Provisions and tax reserves 1,021 1,160 (2) (1)

Tax loss carry-forwards 1,020 753 – –

Tax assets (liabilities) 4,384 2,951 (9,649) 6,284

Set off of tax (4,021) (2,488) 4,021 2,488

Net tax assets (liabilities) $  363 $    463 $    (5,628) $    (3,796)

 

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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 Movement in temporary differences during the year       
       

Balance 
December 31, 2012

Recognized in profi t 
or loss

Recognized in other 
comprehensive 

income

Acquired in business 
combinations 

(note 25)

Balance 
December 31, 2013

Property, plant and equipment $ 3,700 $ 534 $  – $ 2,013 $ 6,247

Intangible assets 2,206 (116) – 728 2,818

Scientifi c research & experimental 42 17 – – 59

Inventories (133) (95) – – (228)

Loans and borrowings (506) (163) – (1,115) (1,784)

Employee benefi ts 35 (5) 38 – 68

Unrealized gains (losses) on forward 
contracts and 

(99) 223 – – 124

Provisions (1,159) 242 – (102) (1,019)

Tax loss carry-forwards (753)      (267) – – (1,020)

$ 3,333 $  $  38 $ 1,524 $ 5,265

Foreign exchange $ (14)

Income tax expense $ 356

14. Share capital

(a) Authorized:
Unlimited number of special shares, discretionary dividends, non-voting, redeemable and retractable.
Unlimited number of Class A subordinate voting shares, no par value.
Unlimited number of Class B common shares with four votes per share, convertible into Class A subordinate voting shares on a one-for-one basis. 
Annual dividends on the Class B common shares may not exceed the annual dividends on the Class A subordinate voting shares, no par value.

(b) Issued:  

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

8,891,624  Class A subordinate voting shares (2012 – 8,857,624) $  13,604 $  13,288

2,778,300  Class B common shares (2012 – 2,778,300) 7 7

11,669,924 Total A and B shares (2012 – 11,635,924) $  13,611 $  13,295

During the year, 34,000 (2012 – 101,000) Class A shares were issued upon exercise of stock options, resulting in cash proceeds of $204,000 
(2012 – $263,000) and a transfer of $112,000 (2012 – $119,000) from contributed surplus. 
 During 2012, the Company purchased and cancelled 50,000 Class A shares under a normal course issuer bid at a cost of $465,000 of 
which $74,000, $10,000 and $381,000 was applied against share capital, contributed surplus and retained earnings respectively. No shares were 
repurchased during the current year. 

The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

20 cents per Class A subordinate voting shares (2012: 18 cents) $ 1,773 $ 1,596

20 cents per Class B common shares (2012: 18 cents)          555 502

  $ 2,328   $ 2,098

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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(c)  Stock option plan
The Company uses a stock option plan to attract and retain key employees, offi cers and directors. The shareholders have approved a maximum of 
1,200,000 Class A shares for issuance under the Stock Option Plan, with the maximum reserved for issuance to any one person at 5% of the Class A 
shares outstanding calculated immediately prior to the time of the grant. As per the Stock Option Plan, the Board of Directors may, at its sole discretion, 
determine the time during which the Options shall vest and the method of vesting, or that no vesting restriction shall exist. The stock option exercise 
price is the price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the grant date on which the Class A 
shares traded. The period during which an option will be outstanding shall be 7 years, or such other time fi xed by the Board of Directors, subject to earlier 
termination upon the option holder ceasing to be a director, offi cer or employee of the Company. Options issued under the plan are non-transferable 
unless specifi cally provided in the Stock Option Plan. Any option granted, which is cancelled or terminated for any reason prior to exercise, shall become 
available for future stock option grants.
 During the year, the Company granted 150,000 options, of which 90,000 vested immediately and the remaining 60,000 vest equally in 2014 and 
2015. Stock-based compensation recognized and the amount credited to contributed surplus during the year is $358,000 and relates to 2013 options 
granted and to options granted in prior years that vested during the year. In 2012, 129,000 options were granted of which 83,000 vested immediately, 
and the remaining 46,000 vest equally in 2013 and 2014. The stock-based compensation expense recognized and amount credited to contributed 
surplus in 2012 amounted to $491,000. The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted in 2013 is $2.37 (2012 – $3.05).

Options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2013: 
        December 31, 2013   December 31, 2012

  Weighted  Weighted 
 Number of average Number of average
 options exercise price options exercise price

Outstanding, beginning of year 539,500   $ 10.28 523,167   $ 8.77

Granted 150,000 10.00 129,000 9.74

Exercised (34,000) 6.00 (101,000) 2.61

Cancelled (4,000) 6.00 (11,667) 3.33

Outstanding, end of year 651,500   $  10.46 539,500   $  10.28

    Options outstanding    Options exercisable
    Weighted   
   Number average Weighted Number Weighted
   of  remaining average of  average
 Exercise  options contractual exercise options exercise
 price  outstanding life (years) price exercisable price

$ 13.64 52,500 0.9 $ 13.64 52,500 $ 13.64

5.91 50,000 2.2 5.91 50,000 5.91

10.55 100,000 3.2 10.55 100,000 10.55

11.70 170,000 4.2 11.70 170,000 11.70

9.74 129,000 5.2 9.74 106,000 9.74

10.00 150,000 6.2 10.00 90,000 10.00

 651,500 4.3 $ 10.46 568,500 $ 10.53

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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 Terms and conditions of the stock option plan 
All options are to be settled by physical delivery of shares: 

Grant date/employees entitled Number of instruments  Vesting conditions Contractual life of options

 Option grant to Board of Directors,  52,500 Vest immediately 7 years
 Offi cers and Senior Management March 6, 2008   

 Option grant to Board of Directors, and Offi cers 50,000 BOD vest immediately, Offi cers and 7 years
 February 24, 2009  Senior Management vest equally over 3 years 
   with 1/3rd immediately

 Option grant to Board of Directors and Offi cers  100,000 BOD vest immediately, Offi cers and 7 years
 March 15, 2010  Senior Management vest equally over 3 years
   with 1/3rd immediately

 Option grant to Board of Directors, Offi cers 170,000 BOD vest immediately, Offi cers and 7 years
 and Senior Management March 17, 2011  Senior Management vest equally over 3 years
     with 1/3rd immediately  

 Option grant to Board of Directors, Offi cers  129,000 BOD vest immediately, Offi cers and 7 years
 and Senior Management March 16, 2012  Senior Management vest equally over 3 years
   with 1/3rd immediately

 Option grant to Board of Directors, Offi cers 150,000 BOD vest immediately, Offi cers and 7 years
 and Senior Management March 14, 2013  Senior Management vest equally over 3 years
     with 1/3rd immediately 

 Total share options outstanding 651,500  

 Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values
The grant date fair value of share-based payment plans was measured based on the Black-Scholes formula. Expected volatility is estimated by 
considering historic average share price volatility. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payment 
plans are the following:

2013 2012

 
 Fair value of share options and assumptions

Fair value at grant date $ 2.37 $ 3.05

Share price at grant date $ 10.00 $ 9.74

Exercise price $ 10.00 $ 9.74

Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 34.7% 44.4%

Option life (expected weighted average life) 3.8 years 3.8 years

Expected dividends 2.01% 1.60%

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 1.27% 1.96%

Forfeiture rate 1.71% 2.10%

Stock Option Plan
Directors, Officers, and Senior Management

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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15. Earnings per share

The computations for basic and diluted earnings per share are as follows:
(earnings in thousands of dollars)  
 

2013 2012

Basic earnings per share $   0.52 $   1.08

Calculated as:

Net Earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 11,644,424 11,628,124

Fully diluted earnings per share $ 0.52 $ 1.08

Calculated as:

Net Earnings $ 6,104 $ 12,611

Weighted average number of shares outstanding including effects of dilutive 
potential ordinary shares

11,694,424 11,689,434

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares outstanding:

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate basic earnings per share 11,644,424 11,628,124

Adjustment for dilutive effect of stock option plan 50,000 61,310

Weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate diluted earnings per share 11,694,424 11,689,434

As at December 31, 2013, 541,500, options (2012 – 416,302) are excluded from the diluted average number of shares calculation as their effect would 
have been anti-dilutive.

16. Put and call option on non-controlling interest  

In relation to the non-controlling interest in PETE, HPS has an irrevocable call option exercisable at any time after February 23, 2016, and in certain other 
circumstances, to purchase the remaining securities of PETE from the non-controlling interests at fair value and has also granted a put option exercisable 
at any time after February 23, 2019, and in certain other circumstances, to cause HPS to purchase the remaining securities of PETE at fair value from 
the non-controlling interests. As the exercise price of the call and put option are at fair value, the fair value of the instruments are considered nominal. 
The Company has not recognized the present value of the redemption price of the put option as a liability as at December 31, 2013 as it is not considered 
material to the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

17. Pension plans:

(a) Defi ned contribution plan:
The Group has defi ned contribution pension plans that are available to virtually all of its employees with eligible employee contributions based on 2-6.25% 
of annual earnings. The Group’s contributions of $1,410,000 (2012 – $1,295,000) matches the employee contributions. The Group’s contributions related 
to its defi ned contribution pension plans are recorded as follows: $1,056,000 (2012 – $970,000) in cost of sales, $176,000 (2012 – $160,000) in selling 
and distribution, and $178,000 (2012 – $165,000) in general and administrative. 

(b) Defi ned benefi t plans:
In connection with the acquisition of Euroelettro Hammond S.p.a., in 2012 and Marnate in 2013 the Company assumed an Italian statutory liability to 
make termination payments to employees upon their cessation of employment with the Group, either voluntary or involuntary. Italian employment law 
prescribes the formula under which an annual amount in respect of each employee is determined. This obligation is unfunded. The liability for past service 
relating to these employees does not change based on future wage escalation; however does increase based on an infl ationary component. The Company 
accounts for the related projected benefi t obligation at its present value.  As at December 31, 2013 the obligation, recorded within accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, was $1,242,000 (2012 – $688,000), of which $401,000 related to Marnate. During the year, the expense related to this program was 
$182,000 (2012 – $116,000), included within cost of sales $120,000 (2012 – $65,000), in selling and distribution $11,000 (2012 – $9,000), and in 
general and administrative $51,000 (2012 – $42,000).
 In addition, the Group maintains a contributory, defi ned benefi t pension plan covering all of its former hourly employees in Baraboo, Wisconsin. 
The Group measures its accrued pension benefi t obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. 
The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plan for funding purposes was as of August 1, 2013 and the next required valuation is August 1, 2014.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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Information about the Group’s defi ned benefi t plan is as follows:

2013 2012

Present value of unfunded obligations $ – $ –

Present value of funded obligations  809  948

Total present value of obligations 809 948

Fair value of plan assets 605 636

Recognized liability for defi ned benefi t obligations $  204 $ 312

18. Provisions:

Warranties Site restoration Total

Balance at January 1, 2012 328 276 604

Provisions made during the period 598 65 663

Provisions used during the period (663) (82) (745)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $   263 $   259 $   522

Balance at January 1, 2013 263 259 522

Provisions made during the period 617 208 825

Provisions used during the period (693) (247) (940)

Balance at December 31, 2013 $   187 $   220 $   407

Current portion $    187 $   120 $   307

Non-current portion $      – $   100 $   100

 

 Warranties 
The provision for warranties relates mainly to transformers sold during the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012. The provision 
is based on estimates made from historical warranty data associated with similar products and claims experience. The Group expects to incur most 
of the liability over the next year.

 Site restoration 
The Company has committed to undertaking a joint remediation plan with the owner of an adjoining industrial property and the Company’s joint 
venture partner. The Company has recorded a liability for its estimated portion of the joint remediation.

19. Related party transactions:

 Related parties 
Arathorn Investments Inc. benefi cially owns 2,778,300 (2012 – 2,778,300) Class B common shares of the Company, representing 100% of the 
issued and outstanding Class B common shares of the Company and 1,033,400 (2012 – 1,026,770) Class A subordinate voting shares of the 
Company, representing approximately 11.6% (2012 – 11.6%) of the issued and outstanding Class A subordinate voting shares of the Company 
and as a result controls the Company. All of the issued and outstanding shares of Arathorn Investments Inc. are owned by William G. Hammond, 
Chief Executive Offi cer and Chairman of the Company. Total dividends paid during the year, directly and indirectly to William G. Hammond were 
$762,340 (2012 – $684,913). 
 In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into transactions with affi liated entities. A number of key management personnel or their 
related parties hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or signifi cant infl uence over the fi nancial or operating policies of 
these entities. All related party transactions in the normal course of operations are recorded at the exchange amount of consideration established 
by and agreed to by the related parties. The Group entered into the following trading transactions with other related parties: 

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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Note 2013 2012 Relationship

Purchase of goods and services (i) $     716 $     576 Companies in which key management personnel and/or 
their relatives have significant influence.

2013 2011 Relationship

Amounts owed by related parties $     696 $     124 Companies in which key management personnel and/or their 
relatives have significant influence and key management 
personnel.

 Transactions with key management personnel
During the year, the Group purchased $317,000 (2012 – $290,000) of inventory from ILSCO of Canada Limited (“ILSCO”), a company in which 
HPS director David J. FitzGibbon serves as Vice Chairman and CEO. The Company purchases a component part from ILSCO which is utilized 
in the manufacturing of transformers. The purchases were measured at the exchange amount. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include 
$43,000 (2012 – $23,000) which is owed to this company.

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2013, HPS has paid $17,000 (2012 - $20,000) of payments in connection with rental agreements for offi ce 
space and an apartment with K. Linga Eddy and K. Ravi Reddy, the minority shareholders of PETE – Hammond Power Solutions Private Limited 
in India. 

 Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel include the Company’s directors and members of the executive management team. Compensation awarded to key 
management is as follows:

2013 2012

Salaries and benefi ts $ 2,290 $ 1,956

Share-based awards    358    491

$ 2,648 $ 2,447

Key management personnel made contributions of $24,270 (2012 – $50,000) to the defi ned contribution pension plan. The Group matches the 
employee contributions.

20. Personal expenses 

2013 2012

Wages and salaries $ 45,459 $ 44,237

Group portion of government pension and 

   employment pension and employment benefi ts 11,704  9,439

Contributions to defi ned contribution plans           1,480           1,197

Expenses related to defi ned benefi t plans             27             45

$ 58,670 $ 54,918

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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21. Change in non-cash operating working capital:

 The table below depicts the receipt of (use of) cash for working capital purposes by the Company: 

2013 2012

Accounts receivable $ (6,345) $ 2,188

Inventories (2,863) 3,132

Prepaid expenses (1,207) (181)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 306 (1,764)

Foreign exchange 1,319 (1,223)

$ (8,790) $ 2,152

 

22. Segment disclosures:

The Company operates in a single operating segment, being a manufacturer of transformers. The Company and its subsidiaries operate in Canada, 
the United States, Mexico, Italy and India. Inter-segment sales are made at fair market value.

Geographic Segments 2013 2012

Sales

Canada $ 79,766 $ 95,467

United States and Mexico 138,481 145,085

Italy 15,159 8,870

India 9,535 7,954

$ 242,941 $ 257,376

Property, plant and equipment, net

Canada $  23,465 $  23,745

United States and Mexico 6,073 5,403

Italy 15,275 8,012

India 2,451 2,869

$  47,264 $  40,029

Investment in properties

Canada $  1,044 $  1,044

Intangibles, net

Canada $  6,397 $  5,531

Italy 4,859 2,296

India 4,035 4,524

$ 15,291 $ 12,351

Goodwill

Canada $   2,180 $   2,180

Italy 6,764 2,369

India 8,613 9,094

$  17,557 $  13,643

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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23. Financial instruments:

 Fair value
The fair value of the Group’s fi nancial instruments measured at fair value has been segregated into three levels. Fair value of assets and liabilities 
included in Level 1 are determined by reference to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. Fair value of assets and 
liabilities included in Level 2 include valuations using inputs other than quoted prices for which all signifi cant inputs are observable, either directly or 
indirectly. Fair value of assets and liabilities included in Level 3 valuations are based on inputs that are unobservable and signifi cant to the overall fair 
value measurement.
 The Group’s fi nancial instruments measured at fair value consist of foreign exchange forward contracts with a fair value of $19,000 
(2012 – ($47,000)) and are included in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. To determine the fair value of the contracts, Management used a valuation 
technique in which all signifi cant inputs were based on observable market data. There have been no transfers from or to Level 2 in 2013 or 2012. 
 The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank operating lines of credit, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
approximate their fair value due to the relatively short period to maturity of the instruments. The Company’s long term debt is comprised of term 
loans with a fl oating rate of interest, for which the fair value is considered to approximate the carrying value given the variable interest rate, and a 
non-interest bearing debt for which the fair value is approximately $390,000 based on the current market rate of interest for similar instruments. The 
carrying value of the non-interest bearing debt as at December 31, 2013 is $407,000 (December 31, 2012 - fair value of approximately $500,000 
with a carrying value of $588,000). The fair value of the Euro note payable for 2,650,000 EU approximates it’s carrying value as there has been no 
signifi cant change in the interest rate environment since its inception.  The fair value of long-term debt has been determined using a discounted 
cash fl ow model based on interest rates in effect as at the year-end date available to the Company for the same or similar debt instruments. The fair 
value of the Company’s long-term debt was determined using a discount rate of 13.6%.

 Derivative instruments
The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts in order to reduce the Company’s exposure to changes in the exchange rate of the 
U.S. dollar as compared to the Canadian dollar (“CAD”).  At December 31, 2013, the Company had outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts 
to buy U.S. $ 11,000,000 in CAD, sell EU 6,100,000 in U.S., sell EU 4,000,000 in CAD and sell U.S. $7,000,000 for Mexican Pesos at rates of 
1.06440, 1.38030, 1.47180 and 13.157 respectively, with maturity dates of March 2014.  At December 31, 2012, the Company had outstanding 
forward foreign exchange contracts to buy U.S. $12,000,000 in CAD, sell EU 1,000,000 in U.S., sell EU 5,900,000 in CAD and sell U.S. $4,086,000 
for Mexican Pesos at rates of 0.99950, 1.31720, 1.32410 and 13.033 respectively, with maturity dates of March 2013.  As at December 31, 2013 
the Group has recognized an unrealized loss of $19,000 (2012 – unrealized loss of $21,000) representing the fair value of these forward foreign 
exchange contracts. 
 In the past, the Group has entered into forward copper purchase contracts in order to reduce the Group’s exposure to changes in the price of 
copper. At December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013 the Group had no outstanding forward copper contracts. 

 Financial risk management:
The Company is exposed to a variety of fi nancial risks by virtue of its activities: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity 
price risk) and liquidity risk. The overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of fi nancial markets and seeks to minimize 
potential adverse effects on fi nancial performance.
 Risk management is carried out by the fi nance department under the guidance of the Board of Directors. This department identifi es and 
evaluates fi nancial risks in close cooperation with management. The fi nance department is charged with the responsibility of establishing controls 
and procedures to ensure that fi nancial risks are mitigated.

 

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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Currency risk:
The Company operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, Mexican Pesos, the 
Euro and the Indian Rupee. Foreign exchange risk arises mainly from U.S. dollar denominated purchases in Canada and Canadian sales to the 
U.S. as well as recognized fi nancial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The Company manages its foreign exchange risk by 
having geographically diverse manufacturing facilities and purchasing U.S. dollar raw materials in Canada. The Company also monitors forecasted 
cash fl ows in foreign currencies and attempts to mitigate the risk by entering into forward foreign exchange contracts. Forward foreign exchange 
contracts are only entered into for the purposes of managing foreign exchange risk and not for speculative purposes.
 The following table represents the Group’s exposure to currency risk as at December 31: 

   U.S. Dollars        Mexican Pesos   Euros   Indian Rupees

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Cash $  5,563 $ 10,154 994 120 €   1,894      €  482 16,471 14,516

Accounts receivable 26,189 23,028 38,239 19,776 3,732 2,727 74,912 34,775

Bank operating lines of credit – 96 – – 23 446 44,709 34,768

Accounts payable 10,799 12,734 5,184 4,228 4,403 2,241 152,388 130,991

Long-term debt       – – – – 3,201 1,022 2,708 12,903

Net exposure $   20,953 $   20,352 34,049 15,668 €   (2,001) €  (500) (108,422)  (129,371)

 A one cent ($0.01) decline in the Canadian dollar against the U.S dollar as at December 31, 2013 would have increased net earnings by 
$57,000. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remained constant. Inversely, a one cent increase in the Canadian 
dollar against the U.S. dollar as at December 31, 2013 would have had an equal but opposite effect.
 A one cent ($0.01) in the Canadian dollar against the Euro as at December 31, 2013 would have decreased net earnings by $15,000. Inversely, 
a one cent increase in the Canadian dollar against the Euro as at December 31, 2013 would have had an equal but opposite effect.
 A one cent ($0.01) in the Canadian dollar against the Indian Rupee as at December 31, 2013 would have decreased net earnings by 
$13,000. Inversely, a one cent increase in the Canadian dollar against the Indian Rupee as at December 31, 2013 would have had an equal but 
opposite effect.
 A one cent ($0.01) in the Canadian dollar against the Peso as at December 31, 2013 would have decreased net earnings by $11,000. Inversely, 
a one cent increase in the Canadian dollar against the Peso as at December 31, 2013 would have had an equal but opposite effect.

 Credit risk:
Credit risk arises from the possibility that the Company’s customers and counter parties may experience diffi culty and be unable to fulfi ll their 
contractual obligations. The Company manages this risk by applying credit procedures whereby analyses are performed to control the granting of 
credit to its customer and counter parties based on their credit rating. As at December 31, 2013, the Company’s accounts receivable are not subject 
to signifi cant concentrations of credit risk. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk associated with the Company’s fi nancial instruments is 
limited to their carrying amount.
 During the year, the allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivables decreased $14,000 (2012– increase of $109,000), for which a recovery 
was recognized in general and administrative expenses. The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance is as follows:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Gross Allowance Gross Allowance

Not past due $    30,421 $      – $    26,855 $      –

Past due 0-30 days 12,189 – 12,072 –

Past due 31-120 days 6,210 – 2,479 –

Past due more than 120 days 1,443 961 1,176 975

$    50,263 $    961 $    42,582 $    975

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

H A M M O N D  P O W E R  S O L U T I O N S | A N N U A L  R E P O R T

63



Credit risk:
The carrying amount of fi nancial assets representing the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

Carrying Amount

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $  11,224 $  13,720

Receivables 49,302 41,607

Forward exchange contracts included in prepaid and other assets – 26

$  60,526 $  55,353

The maximum exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable at the reporting date by geographic region was:

Carrying Amount

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Canada $   12,360 $   13,322

United States 27,788 22,896

Mexico 3,105 1,517

Italy 4,333 2,759

India 1,716 1,113

$  49,302 $  41,607
   

 Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Financial assets 
and fi nancial liabilities with variable interest rates expose the Group to cash fl ow interest rate risk. Changes in market interest rates also directly affect 
cash fl ows associated with the Group’s bank operating lines of credit and components of its long-term debt that bear interest at fl oating interest rates.
 The Group manages its interest rate risk by maximizing the interest income earned on excess funds while maintaining the liquidity necessary 
to conduct operations on a day-to-day basis as well as actively monitoring interest rates. A 1% increase or decrease in interest rates as at 
December 31, 2013 would increase or decrease net earnings by approximately $210,000 respectively.
 

 Commodity price risk:
A large component of the Group’s cost of sales is comprised of copper and steel, the costs of which can vary signifi cantly with movements in demand for 
these resources and other macroeconomic factors. To manage its exposure to changes in commodity prices, the Group will enter into long-term supply 
contracts with certain suppliers, and from time to time will enter into forward commodity purchase contracts. 
 

 Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations as they become due. 
 The Group manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash fl ows from operations and anticipated investing and fi nancing activities. Senior Management 
is also actively involved in the review and approval of planned expenditures.

The following are the contractual maturities of the Group’s fi nancial liabilities:
    

December 31, 2013 Carrying amount 1 year or less 1-2 years 2-5 years

Bank operating lines of credit $   27,183 $   27,183 $       – $   –

Loans and borrowing 5,145 1,049 537 4,102

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 39,216 39,216 – –

Derivative liabilities 19 19 – –

$   71,563 $   67,467 $   537 $   4,102

December 31, 2012

Bank operating lines of credit $   12,568 $   12,568 $     – $     –

Loans and borrowing 2,142 971 845 389

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 37,690 37,690 – –

Derivative liabilities 47 47 – –

$  52,447 $    51,276 $    845 $   389

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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24. Capital risk management:

The Group’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confi dence and to sustain future business 
development. The Group includes cash, bank operating lines, long-term debt and equity, comprising of share capital, contributed surplus and 
retained earnings in the defi nition of capital. The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and there has been no change 
with respect to the overall capital risk management strategy during the year ended December 31, 2013.

The following table sets out the Group’s capital quantitatively at the following reporting dates:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $        11,224 $        13,720

Bank operating lines of credit (27,183) (12,568)

Long-term debt (5,145) (2,142)

Share capital 13,611 13,295

Contributed surplus 2,133 1,887

Retained earnings 91,794 87,976

$       86,434 $       102,168

25. Business combination:

Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l. 
On February 12, 2013, Hammond Power Solutions Inc. signed an agreement (the “Defi nitive Agreement”) for the acquisition of Marnate Trasformatori 
s.r.l. (“Marnate”) in Italy, acquiring a 100% equity ownership of its cast resin transformer business for 7,213,000 EUR ($9,667,000 CAD). Marnate 
is involved in the design and manufacture of standard and custom cast resin transformers and is recognized in the industry for product quality 
and reliability.  

Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities assumed consist of: 

Cash $     273

Accounts receivable 1,350

Inventories 1,292

Prepaid assets 112

Income taxes recoverable 215

Future income tax asset 71

Property, plant and equipment 6,713

Intangible assets 2,469

Goodwill 3,767

Assets $     16,262

Accounts payable (1,220)

Provisions and other liabilities (67)

Future income tax liability (1,595)

Note payable (3,713)

Liabilities $     (6,595)

Total purchase consideration $     9,667

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method whereby identifi ed assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at 
their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over such fair value was recorded as goodwill, which 
represents the expected synergies to be realized from Marnate’s complementary products. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible for income 
tax purposes.
 The Defi nitive Agreement includes a deferred compensation payment of $557,000 due in semi-annual installments of equal amounts during 
the two years following the closing, subject to the condition of continued employment of the majority shareholder. The payments as part of this 
agreement are recorded as compensation expense over the duration of the deferred compensation term.
 As part of the acquisition, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase the building. This agreement consists of monthly interest 
installments of 10,000 EUR at a rate of 4.5% with the principal being paid no later than February 2016. This note payable is secured by the value 
of the building.
 The acquisition costs attributed to Marnate incurred during the year were $247,000 (2012 - $98,000) which were included in general and 
administrative expense. 
 Included in the Group’s consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2013, is revenue of $6,497,000 and net earnings of $223,000 
recognized by Marnate from the date of acquisition to December 31, 2013. If the Company had acquired Marnate effective January 1, 2013, the 
revenue would have been approximately $6,848,000 and there would have been net earnings of approximately $216,000.

Pan-Electro Technic Enterprises Private Limited 
Effective March 1, 2012, HPS executed an agreement with the shareholders of Pan-Electro Technic Enterprises Private Limited (“PETE”) in India, 
acquiring a 70% equity ownership (representing 70% voting interest) of its outstanding share capital for 776,945,000 Indian Rupees ($15,867,000 
CAD). PETE’s annual revenues approximate $16,000,000 CAD. Since acquisition the Company has operated as PETE – Hammond Power Solutions 
Private Limited. 
 The purchase of PETE expands HPS’ global presence and provides a platform for expansion into the Indian, Asian and African markets. PETE also 
increases the breadth of HPS’ product offering with its design and manufacturing capabilities in cast coil, custom liquid fi lled distribution, and power 
transformers. PETE has a reputation in the transformer industry for its custom engineering capabilities, product reliability and quality.
 The following summarizes the allocation of the purchase price and the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date 
of acquisition:

Cash $     457

Accounts receivable 2,234

Inventories 3,789

Property, plant and equipment 3,232

Intangible assets 5,350

Goodwill 10,244

Assets 25,306

Bank operating line of credit (485)

Accounts payable (3,936)

Income taxes payable (309)

Deferred tax liabilities (2,141)

Long-term debt (158)

Liabilities (7,029)

Non-controlling interest (2,410)

Total purchase consideration $     15,867

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method whereby identifi ed assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their 
estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition and the non-controlling interest was measured at its proportionate interest in the identifi able 
net assets acquired. The excess of the purchase price over such fair value was recorded as goodwill, which represents the expected synergies to be 
realized from PETE’s complementary products. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible for income tax purposes.
 The acquisition costs attributed to PETE incurred during the year were $16,000 (2012 - $308,000), which are included in general and 
administrative expense.
 Included in the Group’s consolidated results for 2013 is revenue of $9,535,000 and net earnings of $71,000 and for 2012 is revenue of 
$7,954,000 and net loss of $34,000 recognized by PETE from the date of acquisition, to December 31, 2012.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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26. Determination of fair values:

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both fi nancial and non-fi nancial assets and 
liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further 
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specifi c to that asset or liability.

(i)  Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized as a result of the acquisitions of Marnate and PETE, is based on market values. The market 
value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing 
seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly. The fair value of items 
of the plant and equipment is based on the market approach and cost approaches using a third party appraisal.

(ii) Intangible assets
The fair value of customer relationships acquired in through the purchase of Marnate and PETE, is based on the discounted cash fl ows, expected to 
be derived from the use of the assets. The fair value of technology and branding is based on the relief from royalty method.

(iii)  Inventories
The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on the estimated selling price in the common course of business 
less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profi t margin based on the effort required to complete and sell the inventories.

(iv)  Derivatives
The fair value of forward exchange and copper commodity contracts is based on valuations obtained from third parties, developed based on 
observable market inputs.
 Fair values refl ect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group entity and counter 
party when appropriate. 

 (v)  Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities
Fair value of the non-derivative fi nancial liabilities acquired by the acquisition of Marnate and PETE, and determined for disclosure purposes, is 
calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash fl ows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
 For fi nance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to long-term debt of a similar duration. 

(vi)  Share-based payment transactions
The fair value of the employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement 
date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly 
available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), 
expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). 

27. Subsequent events:

 Dividends
On March 7, 2014, Hammond Power Solutions Inc. declared a quarterly cash dividend of six cents ($0.06) per Class A subordinate voting shares of 
HPS and a quarterly cash dividend of six cents ($0.06) per Class B common shares of HPS payable on March 27, 2014 to shareholders of record at 
the close of business on March 20, 2014. The ex-dividend date is March 18, 2014.   

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
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Hammond Power Solutions Inc.
Canada

Corporate Head Offi ce
595 Southgate Drive
Guelph, Ontario  N1G 3W6
Phone: (519) 822-2441

15 Industrial Road
Walkerton, Ontario  N0G 2V0
Phone: (519) 881-3552

10 Tawse Place
Guelph, Ontario  N1H 6H9

Delta Transformers Inc.

795 Industriel Boul.
Granby, Quebec  J2G 9A1
Phone (450) 378-3617

3850 place de Java
Suite 200
Brossard, Québec J4Y 0C4

PETE – Hammond Power Solutions 
Private Limited 
India

G-9 to 11, Bhavya’s Sree Arcade,
D.No. 8-3-166/6&7
Erragadda, Hyderabad – 500 018

Phone +91 40 23812291

Euroelettro Hammond s.p.a

Euroelettro Hammond s.p.a.
Italy

Via dell’Agricoltura, 8/F (Z.I.)
36040 Meledo di Sarego (VI) ITALY
Phone:  +39 0444 822 000

Marnate Trasformatori s.r.l.

Via A. Gramsci, 98
21050 Marnate (VA), ITALY
Phone:  +39 0331 606854

Hammond Power Solutions S.A. de C.V. 
Mexico

Ave. Avante #810
Parque Industrial Guadalupe
Guadalupe, Nuevo Leon, C.P. 67190
Monterrey, Mexico
(011) 52-81-8479-7115

Ave. Avante #900
Parque Industrial Guadalupe
Guadalupe, Nuevo Leon, C.P. 67190
Monterrey, Mexico

Hammond Power Solutions, Inc.
United States

1100 Lake Street
Baraboo, Wisconsin  53913
Phone (608) 356-3921

17715 Susana Road
Compton, California  90224
Phone (310) 537-4690

Euroelettro Hammond s.p.a

The Hammond Museum of Radio is one of North America’s 
premiere wireless museums. It is home to thousands of receivers and 
transmitters dating back to the turn of the century. The museum is open 
regular business hours Monday to Friday; evenings and weekends by special 
appointment. Tours can be arranged by calling: 519-822-2441 x 590.

Euroelettro Hammond s.p.a
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Corporate Offi cers 
and Directors

William G. Hammond *
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Chris R. Huether
Corporate Secretary and 

Chief Financial Officer

 
Donald H. MacAdam *+

Director

 
Zoltan D. Simo *+

Director

Douglas V. Baldwin *+

Director

 
Grant C. Robinson *+

Director

David J. FitzGibbon *+

Director

Dahra Granovsky *+

Director

* Corporate Governance Committee 
+ Audit and Compensation Committee
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Stock Exchange Listing 

Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX)
Trading Symbol: HPS.A
 

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Computershare Investor Share Services Inc.
100 University Avenue
Toronto, Ontario  
Canada M5J 2Y1

Auditors

KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South
Waterloo, Ontario  
Canada N2J 5A3

Legal Representation

Borden Ladner Gervais LLP
Scotia Plaza 
40 King Street West
Toronto, Ontario
Canada M5H 3Y4
 

Investor Relations

Contact:  Dawn Henderson, Manager Investor Relations
Telephone: 519.822.2441
Email: ir@hammondpowersolutions.com

Banking Institution 

JP Morgan Chase
611 Woodward Avenue
Detroit, Michigan 48226
U.S.A.
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